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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may
be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Zhejiang RuiYuan
Intelligent Control Technology Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions
expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair
and reasonable.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEWwE

On behalf of Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Control Technology Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the 2024 annual results of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The overall economic environment in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC” or “China”) in 2024 was very challenging for private enterprises
due to the following factors:

(i) the overall economic growth rate continued to slow down
(i)  competition and production costs continued to increase

We strived to survive in such a harsh environment by simplifying our
operation structure and controlling costs.

In 2024, our major business included engaged in the design, manufacture
and sales of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical products, sales
of controller systems for electronic equipment and electronic component
and subassembly for electronic appliances.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”),
the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB22,279,000
(2023: RMB21,783,000), representing an increase of approximately
RMB496,000 over the previous year. The increase in revenue is due to
the Group maintained and stabilized its existing business.

For details of performance analysis and financial review, please refer to

page 6 to page 11 under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this annual report.

PROSPECT

While the market for 2025 remains uncertain. Some trends seem to be
certain:

(i) the economic growth will further slow down; and

(i) automatization and replacement of labor by robotics will continue
to speed up.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEWwE

The above trends present challenges and opportunities to the Group. |
have more than 17 years experience on industrial automation and have
great confidence in the future market of intelligent control system for
industrial uses.

While 2025 remains challenging for us, we will continue to explore
business opportunities for intelligent control system for industrial uses.

DEDICATION

On behalf of all members of the board of Directors, | would like to take
this opportunity to express our sincerest gratitude to our shareholders
and colleagues for their unwavering dedications in 2024 and to our
clients and business partners for their loyalties and support rendered to
the Group.

He Keng
Chairman
Ningbo, The PRC, 20 March 2025
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Managment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major business included engaging in the design,
manufacture and sales of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical
products, sales of controller systems for electronic equipment and
electronic component and subassembly for electronic appliances. The
Group’s activities are primarily operated in the PRC and the Group’s
revenue is mainly attributable to customers in the PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB22,279,000 (2023: RMB21,783,000), representing
an increase of approximately RMB496,000 over the previous year. The
increase in revenue is due to the Group maintained and stabilized its
existing business.

In 2024, the Group took the initiative to develop the business of industrial
electronic intelligent control equipment, mechanical equipment, industrial
CNC system, and general parts processing and manufacturing. At
present, the Group purchased a batch of multi-axis drilling machine,
grinding machine and radial drilling machine and other equipment, for
metal castings and metal products (such as bed, bed legs, headstock,
pressure film, briquetting, nut and other castings and forgings)
processing, manufacturing and production of CNC machine tools
and optical machines. The CNC machine tool optical and mechanical
products launched by the Group in the first half of 2021 are applied
in different fields, including raw materials, production and processing.
The Company will soon launch a variety of high-end CNC machine tool
and optical machine products to enhance the enterprise’s own product
innovation and market expansion. In addition, the Group’s industrial
automation control system and electronic equipment products have also
been processed and upgraded, further improved the performance of
products and enhanced market competitiveness. The Group will continue
to purchase a series of processing equipment to develop new products.

The Group has signed letters of intent for cooperation and purchase and
sales contracts with a number of agent dealers, mainly metal casting
and forging factories and precision machinery companies. The suppliers
mainly included manufacturers of metal casting and forging parts,
while the customers of the Company included trading enterprises and
production companies. The Company’s marketing team will continue to
expand business in Hangzhou, Jiaxing, Shanghai, Shaoxing, Nanjing,
Wuxi, Huai’an, Linhai, Quzhou and other cities, continue to increase new
sales customers, and actively explore more cities’ markets.
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Managment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

An analysis by reportable segments is provided in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Gross profit margin was 7.94% (2023: 7.46%), revenue increased by
approximately RMB496,000. The increase in gross profit margin is mainly
due to the cost of sales reduced. The Group will continue to implement
cost control.

The Group recorded other income and other gains of approximately
RMB6,000 (2023: RMB18,000) in 2024.

Administrative expenses recorded an increase by approximately
RMB92,000 over the previous year (2024: RMB2,663,000; 2023:
RMB2,571,000).

Finance costs decreased by RMB2,189,000 over the previous year as
there was no charge of imputed interest expense on loan from a major
shareholder (2024: RMB91,000; 2023: RMB2,280,000).

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for
the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB1,298,000
(2023: RMB3,514,000), representing a decreased in loss of approximately
RMB2,216,000 over previous year. The Group will continue to implement
strict cost control to reduce losses.
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Managment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Current assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB12,041,000 (2023: RMB13,173,000), representing a decrease of
approximately RMB1,132,000 compared with last year. The decrease
was mainly attributable to the trade receivables by appropriately
RMB359,000 and bank balances and cash by appropriately
RMB769,000.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had current liabilities of
approximately RMB65,607,000 (2023: RMB65,464,000), representing
an increase of approximately RMB143,000. It was mainly due to
decrease of approximately RMB400,000 in trade payable, a decrease in
contract liabilities of approximately RMB391,000, and an increase bank
borrowings of approximately RMB952,000.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net liabilities of approximately
RMB53,445,000 (2023: RMB52,147,000). The Group’s operations and
investments were financed principally by its internal resources, loan from
a major shareholder and shareholders’ equity.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB11,999,000 (2023: RMB12,768,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had the bank borrowings of
approximately RMB2,952,000 (2023: RMB2,000,000).

Gearing ratio
As at 31 December 2024, The Group has no gearing ratio. (2023: Nil),

which was expressed as a percentage of other borrowings over the total
assets.
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Managment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

The Group understands that its own competitive capability in product
innovation and quality is important to future growth in sales and
operation. Operation processes are continuously streamlined. The Group
is moving forward with realistic measures and goals and in accordance
with feasible plans. The Group has established strategic partnerships
with various companies and is now actively expanding the products
and sales markets, laying the foundation for the increase in the trading
business of intelligent control systems. At present, the Group’s products
for sale include electronic components, industrial electronic intelligent
control system, alternating current servo motors and CNC machine tools
optical and mechanical. Such products have gradually been recognized
by the market and customers. The application of industrial electronic
intelligent control system and CNC machine tools optical and mechanical
developed by the Group has been gradually available to the market,
making the market and development prospects of the Group promising.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group had not held any significant investments as at 31 December
2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The details of contingent liabilities are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 11 employees (2023: 11
employees). The proportion of female employees (including senior
management personnel) is approximately 72.7%. Details of the Group’s
employees by gender are set out in the 2024 Environmental, Social
and Governance (ESG) Report of the Company published separately.
Remuneration is determined by reference to market terms and the
performance, qualifications and experience of individual employees.
Bonuses based on individual performance will be paid to employees
in recognition and reward of their contribution. Other benefits include
contributions to retirement scheme.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E S W DT

An analysis of employees of the Group by their duties for each of the
three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 is set out below:

REBEZE-_T - T -_=ZFRK-_FT_NWHF

TZA=+T—BIL=EFESF - BB
AEBERBENOT

Headcount for the year
ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-BLFENAH

2022 2023 2024
—E-— T =F —E-ME
Sales and marketing HE RIS HERE 3 3 3
Production (including quality control) SE(BRIEEEEH) 2 2 2
Finance and administration B R A TIR 5 5 5
Procurement Rig 1 1 1
11 11 11

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS BEEXME

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
C1 to the GEM Listing Rule (the “CG Code”), the Company has
established the Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration
policies. Directors’ remuneration is subject to Shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee
and factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
of such Directors elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration. No Director, or any of their respective associates,
was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no any asset collateral (2023:
Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E S W DT

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any specific plan for material investments or
acquisitions of capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

Please refer to page 42 to page 43 for information about risk
management and internal control systems.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was in compliance
with all the laws and regulations applicable to the business operations of
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As of the date of this report, the Group has no significant events after the
Reporting Period.

DIVIDENDS

The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

55 BEENSREEABNEEF

Biographical details of the Directors, supervisors and senior management
of the Company are set out as follows:

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of 7 Directors, including 4 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. He Keng, aged 49, has been the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director since 13 December 2016. Mr. He resigned as
a chairman of Zhejiang RuiYuan Machine Tool Co., Ltd* (“RuiYuan
Machine Tool”) on 30 April 2019 and joined Zhejiang Zhu Ji RuiYuan
Machine Tool Group Co., Ltd* (M IEEZmErEKREBBR A a)
(“RuiYuan Machine Tool Group”), which, RuiYuan Machine Tool, is
a Member of the RuiYuan Group, as chairman on 1 May 2019. He
has extensive experience in corporate management. He worked in
the Bank of China Shaoxing Branch from July 1997 to January 2005,
during which he served as the account manager of the corporate
account department, the head of the sub-operating office and
the president of Zhuji Xincheng Sub-branch respectively. Mr. He
graduated from Zhejiang University with a major in accounting and
financial management.

Mr. Yao Yongtao, aged 46, has been an executive Director since
5 March 2025. Mr. Yao joined Rui Yuan Machine Tool in 2008 and
resigned from his position as finance manager at RuiYuan Machine
Tool on 30 April 2019. He joined the RuiYuan Machine Group in
May 2019 and served as the company’s financial manager. Mr. Yao
graduated from East China University of Science and Technology in
accounting in July 2007.

Mr. Chen Weigiang, aged 43, has been an executive Director since 13
December 2016. Mr. Chen resigned from RuiYuan Machine Tool on 30
April 2019 and joined RuiYuan Machine Tool Group as the manager
of market department on 1 May 2019. Mr. Chen Weigiang graduated
from Southwest University of Science and Technology with a major in
economic information management and computer application.

Ms. Zou Jing, aged 38, has been an executive Director since 25
March 2021. Ms. Zou is the deputy general manager and a joint
secretary of the Company. She is responsible for the daily operation
and management and the company secretarial affairs of the
Company. Ms. Zou Jing graduated from Yangtze University (Business
Administration).
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

55 BEENSREEABNEEF

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie, aged 53, has been an independent non-
executive Director since 20 June 2012. Mr. Kwok currently has been
providing corporate advising services as professional accountant in Hong
Kong. Mr. Kwok has been an independent non-executive director of
E&P Global Holdings Limited (formerly known as Siberian Mining Group
Limited) (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 1142)
since February 2014, and resigned on 28 September 2022. He has
served as an independent non-executive director for Winshine Science
Company Limited (whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 209)) since March 2019, respectively.
He previously served as financial controller, company secretary and
authorised representative of Forebase International Holdings Limited (now
known as Times Universal Group Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 2310),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Kwok is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. He holds a Master of Professional Accounting
Degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a Master of
Corporate Governance Degree from the Open University of Hong Kong
(now known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University) and a Honours
Diploma in Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known
as Hong Kong Shue Yan University).

Mr. Zhou Weibo, aged 49, a senior engineer, a first-class certified
architect. He has been an independent non-executive Director since
30 April 2019. Mr. Zhou has been working in the construction industry
since 1998. He is currently a project manager and technical director of
HAMO Construction Group Co., Ltd.* (JEBEREE AR A F]), with rich
experience in project management and operation. Mr. Zhou graduated
from Zhejiang University with a major in electrical technology

Ms. Sheng Ting, aged 35, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 30 April 2019. She is currently a manager in the business
department of Zhejiang Wuchan Zhongda Asset Management Co., Ltd.*
CImIEH KREEEIEBR A F). She successively served as an auditor
in the operations management department of Zhejiang Wuchan Finance
Leasing Co., Ltd.* (4T ¥EFEHE AR A 7)) and a business manager
at Hangzhou Branch of Zhejiang Chouzhou Commercial Bank. Ms.
Sheng graduated from Shanghai University of Electric Power with a major
in Computer Science and Technology.

* For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

55 BEENSREEABNEEF

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Guo Fangqgiang, aged 54, a senior engineer, has been a supervisor
of the Company (the “Supervisor”) since 4 November 2020, a senior
engineer, is the technical director of the Company. He joined Zhejiang
RuiYuan Machine Tool Co., Ltd. in 2005, successively served as various
positions including an electrical engineer, a production director and
deputy general manager. In 2019, he joined Zhejiang Zhuji RuiYuan
Machine Tool Group Co., Ltd. and has been its deputy general manager.
He has extensive experience in production management and operation.
Mr. Guo Fangagiang graduated from Harbin Institute of Ship Engineering
(now known as Harbin Engineering University) majoring in underwater
acoustic and electronic engineering in July 1991.

Mr. Zhang Shenggen, aged 77, has been a Supervisor since 13
December 2016. Mr. Zhang resigned from RuiYuan Machine Tool on
30 April 2019 and joined RuiYuan Machine Tool Group as the manager
of sales department on 1 May 2019 and is currently the head of the
corporate management department of RuiYuan Machine Tool Group. Mr.
Zhang Shenggen graduated from University of Hangzhou* with a major in
administrative management.

Mr. Chen Yuankang, aged 50, has been a Supervisor since 13 December
2016. Mr. Chen resigned from RuiYuan Machine Tool on 30 April 2019
and joined RuiYuan Machine Tool Group as the manager of sales
department on 1 May 2019 and is currently the head of the production
department of RuiYuan Machine Tool Group. Mr. Chen Yuankang is
experienced in production management.

* For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT SREEE

Ms. Zou Jing. For biography of Ms. Zou, please refer to “Directors” ##Fx+ - FEBHFLLTHERE H28 L X
above. [E=%]-

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BEATRWE

Ms. Zou Jing. For biography of Ms. Zou, please refer to “Directors” #HFEx Lt - BT L ETHNERE F2H LX
above. [B=]-

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit, is one of the joint company secretaries of the  Ei2¢E%k4d - ARDRBFEATIMEZ — - Bk
Company. Mr. Cheng is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate 4 & EICXRGER (FB) BRAT(—K=E
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional services provider — # 8 ¥RIGIRMERE) 2 BI85 ROEWMER
specialising in corporate services, and has over 12 years of experience in  F&HIBEE B T _FL£H - HE2018F R AT
corporate secretarial field. He is an associate member of both The Hong B RAFPAE AU R EEBFHATDREAEG 2 S
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance =+ ° Iit4h - RiFERNELTHASHE L (£8)
Institute in the United Kingdom since 2018. In addition, he holds a Bachelor — {7 & & A ESKEE+ (R EDE) 247 -

of Commerce degree in finance from the University of Queensland,

Australia and a Master of Laws degree in Chinese law from the University

of Hong Kong.
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Re ort of the Directors
EFRHEE

The Directors present their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

Our major business included engaging in the design, manufacture and
sales of computer numerical control (“CNC”) machine tools optical and
mechanical products, sales of controller systems for electronic equipment
and electronic component and subassembly for electronic appliances.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 34
to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of the Group’s performance for the Reporting Period by
geographical segments is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the Reporting Period and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 in this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 54.

POSSIBLE RISK EXPOSURE AND UNCERTAINTIES
Credit Risk

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to the failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arose from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
other debtor at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
Please refer to Note 32(b) to the consolidated financial statements for
details of credit risk.
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Re ort of the Directors
EFRHEE

Interest Rate Risk

The Group was not exposed to any fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank borrowings for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its
variable rate bank balances. However, the Group considered that the
effect of the cash flow interest rate is minimal and no sensitivity analysis
to interest rate risk is presented. Please refer to Note 32(b) to the
consolidated financial statements for details of interest rate risk.

Liquidity Risk

The Group was exposed to liquidity risk as at 31 December 2024
as its financial assets due within one year were less than its financial
liabilities due with in one year. The Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB53,566,000 as at 31 December 2024. The liquidity
of the Group depends upon the positive cash flows expected to be
generated from the Group’s future operations and the Group’s ability
to successfully obtain new working capital in order to meet the Group’s
future working capital and financial requirements. Please refer to Note
32(b) to the consolidated financial statements for details of liquidity risk.

Currency risk

The Group operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in RMB. All of the financial assets at amortised
cost are denominated in RMB. As a result, there is no exposure to foreign
currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise. Please refer to Note 32(b) to the consolidated financial statements
for details of currency risk.
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Report of the Directors

HEEREE

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 57. The Company has no reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and no
restriction against such rights under the laws of the PRC, which will
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND
SUPERVISORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors, chief
executives (the “Chief Executives”) (if any) or supervisors of the Company
(the “Supervisors”) or their spouse or children under the age of 18
was granted any right to acquire shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”)), or had exercised any such right.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 111 to page 112.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of
treasury shares) during the Reporting Period. There are no treasury
Shares held by the Company (whether held directly or deposited in the
Central Clearing and Settlement System or otherwise) as at 31 December
2024 and the date of this report.
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Report of the Directors

EETHEE
SHARE SCHEMES

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, the
Company did not have any share scheme and no option or share award
has been granted or agreed to be granted by the Company to any of its
Directors, Supervisors or employees of the Company or its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Keng (Chairman)

Mr. Yao Yongtao (appointed on 5 March 2025)

Mr. Chen Weigiang

Ms. Zou Jing

Ms. Wu Shanhong (resigned on 5 March 2025)Ne 1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie
Mr. Zhou Weibo
Ms. Sheng Ting

Note:

1. Ms. Wu Shanhong has resigned as an executive Director with effect from 5 March
2025 in order to devote more time on her other personal career development.

In accordance with Article 83 of the Articles of Association, Directors shall
be elected at the general meeting and shall hold office for a term of three
years. Any Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy since
last shareholders’ annual general meeting shall be elected at the coming
shareholders’ general meeting. A Director may serve consecutive terms if
re-elected upon the expiration of the terms.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and senior
management are set out on page 12 to page 15.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
INFORMATION

There is no change in the Directors’ and Supervisors’ information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Re ort of the Directors
EFRHEE

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years from his/her date of
appointment as a Director or, as the case may be, as a Supervisor and
thereafter subject to termination by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

No Directors or Supervisors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Apart from the Directors’ and Supervisors’ service contracts disclosed
above, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or a Supervisor of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or at
any time during the Reporting Period.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for as disclosed under the section headed “Permitted Indemnity
Provision”, no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance
to which the Company, or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024 or
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024. In addition, no
contract of significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was made.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no Directors or their
respective associates has engaged in or has any interest in any business
which were in competition or were likely to compete, directly or indirectly
with the business of the Group.
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Re ort of the Directors
EFRHEE

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the controlling shareholders of the Company or their subsidiary
has or had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract
of significance, whether for the provision of services or otherwise, to the
business of the group to which the company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PLEDGE OF SHARES BY SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 December
2017 (the “Announcement”), the Company was notified that, an
aggregate of 322,675,000 domestic shares of the Company (the “Pledged
Shares") held by Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Robot Company Limited*
T ER R fei 23 AN BBR 2 7)) (“RuiYuan Robot”), the Company’s
controlling shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), has been
pledged to an independent third party for serving RuiYuan Robot’s own
purpose and fulfilling its responsibility. The Pledged Shares represented
approximately 64.535% of the total issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of the Announcement. The pledge of the Pledged Shares
did not fall within the scope of Rule 17.19 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

So far as known to the Directors, at 31 December 2024, the interests
and short position of each Director, Chief Executive and Supervisor
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO,
as required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be recorded in the
register referred to therein or as otherwise notified to be Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealing of
securities by directors and supervisors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rule, were as follows:
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Long positions in shares

Name of Director/

RGN EFE
Approximate
percentage of Approximate
shareholding percentage of

interested in shareholding

Chief Executive/ same class of interested in the
Supervisor Number of Shares interested (Note 1) Nature of interest securities registered capital
ERERES hEE &R

EE /BRH BREEERN BABEREEN

IN-V4 =+ 3.2 BERZNRAHE (M) EHEME RHBEDL ROBEDL

Mr. He Keng 370,000,000 Domestic Shares (Note 2) Interest of controlled 100.00% 74.00%

8% 370,000,000 f& & % (Fi3E2) corporation

REEEER
1,000 H Shares (Note 3) Beneficial owner 0.0008% 0.0002%
1,000 & HA% (P 3) EnEAA

Ms. Zou Jing 4,225,000 H Shares Beneficial owner 3.25% 0.845%

Pt 4,225,000 3 H A EnBEEA

Notes: B5E -

1) Domestic Shares of a nominal value of RMB0.10 each ( the “Domestic Shares”), in the 1) ARBFMERFEZREEBARE0I0THRER (A
registered capital of the Company, which are subscribed for or credited as fully-paid Bl TIAARBEREIARIMEMT - HIRAXAF]
in Renminbi. H Share(s) represent overseas listed foreign share(s) of a nominal value of AMERFEREEAREIOTHEIN EHINE IR
RMBO.10 each (“H Share(s)”) in the registered capital of the Company, which are listed (THA&]) - RGEM £ » WEABTREREE o
on the GEM and subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars.

2 On 11 July 2016, RuiYuan Robot entered into a share transfer agreement with Wan ©) RZTZ—RELA+—B heE#RAESEnRER
Li Group Company Limited (% 242 i& & B 5 AR 2 7)) (“Wanl”), Mr. Qi Yong Qiang BHERAR(TBE] - TBEREE(TERAED REAM
(“Mr. Qi") and other parties, pursuant to which, among other things, RuiYuan Robot TR — R ER G - Bt (HPeE) mEESEA
agreed to acquire (i) 306,900,000 Domestic Shares held by Wanli and 15,775,000 &) B U BE () & B 5 F #9306,900,000 % )& % & 77 58 &
Domestic Shares held by Mr. Qi (collectively the “First Batch Sale Shares”) and (i) HHM15,775,000 R N ER(FTER(TE—HBERHD )
47,325,000 Domestic Shares held by Mr. Qi (the “Second Batch Sale Shares”). After F2 i) 7T 55 4 45 B #9 47,325,000 8 R & BR ([ 5 —HE 44 &
completion of the transfer of the First Batch Sale Shares and the Second Batch Sale BRAD 1) o ME—HEHERM R FE R HERMDERTK
Shares, Mr. He Keng and parties acting in concert with it owned an aggregate of f& A48 %A R H —B1TE) 5 & A 370,000,000 ik
370,000,000 Domestic Shares, representing approximately 74% of the entire issued NER  HARFR T _WF+_A=+—HHZH
share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2024. BEEITIRNLI74% ©

) As a result of the mandatory cash offer following the sale and purchase of the @) BEEHHERDRE_HIHERMD ZEMETHIMHE
First Batch Sale Shares and the Second Batch Sale Shares (the “Mandatory Cash SEN(RHMBSEN DR _FT—"FALATIAT
Offer”), which closed at 4 pm on 14 September 2016, Mr. He Keng acquired valid VOB A SR % - (a4 55 A B 81,000 ik H AR B9 A 2L
acceptances in respect of 1,000 H Shares, Accordingly, Mr. He Keng was interested B Al RZZ-MF+—A=+—H " @A8L4E
in 1,000 H Shares as at 31 December 2024. 1,000 A% H AR R #E B i 2 o

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December & F XS E REZE-_Z—mWFE+—F

2024 did the Directors, Chief Executives and Supervisors (including their
spouse and children under 18 years of age) have any interest in, or had
they been granted, or exercised, any rights to subscribe for shares of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of SFO).
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Apart from the above, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement enabling the Directors, Chief Executives and Supervisors
of the Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporation.

Furthermore, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was
there any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporation.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN
THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024, the persons
or companies (other than the Directors, Chief Executive or Supervisors
of the Company) have interests and/or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO and recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO, and who were directly or indirectly deemed to
be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
the Company are listed as follows:

B EXPruiESN REE-_ZF_WF+ A
=t —BIEFENEMAER - AR SE AN
BRBMMET L EMZE BEARAES &
BITBA B REFHEARRRSEABEE MK
3 - R ESEAEERAR -

N REE2-F-_NMF+-_A=+—HIEFE
TR - WEET S AL HE - (FEEr R
BAR RS EAEREEE 2 I S E S M ERFIE -

FTERRRAQ AR KA R B

3¢
m

MEBEA - 777@¢+ A=+—8" "M
TALTHRRN(ARBESE ZETBRABRE
EBRIN RA R TR &*HF%M FHEERERE
EREEIEFIEXVEE2 RIDENBEAME
ARG R URBEESFRPERGE
336 1§ A RL 8RN sZ G AT & iE it 2 W25 I 50K
B LA&%&%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁIKH’*%%IJTEM%
AERTERRBMWREAE FIRE 2R ER
RE A TE{E 5% s A = 2 #E2s

Long positions in shares RGBWNETE
Approximate Approximate
percentage of percentage of
shareholding shareholding
interested interested in
Name of Substantial Number of in same class of the registered
Shareholder Shares interested (Note 1) Nature of interest securities capital
fhEERES EaEfmER
BAREREN BRFEREN
TERRME LR HFEERENROBE (1) EEtE ROBEDL ROBEDL
Fri& 2% A RuiYuan Robot 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Beneficial owner 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000 R W& i ERERA
(Notes 2, 3 and 4)
(Bf#2-3%4)
M ERERERR L 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%

(ML) 370,000,000 W E fix REEFEER
(Hangzhou Qindie Electronic (Notes 2 and 5)
Equipment Company Limited") (B2 k5)

(*Hangzhou Qindie”)

* For identification purpose only
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Approximate Approximate
percentage of percentage of
shareholding shareholding
interested interested in
Name of Substantial Number of in same class of the registered
Shareholder Shares interested (Note 1) Nature of interest securities capital
fHEERIE 5 HEmER
BOREREN BAREREN
TERFHE/EB RERZNHROEE (W) ERME RO BDL ROBEDL
FESBREREBBRAF(EESE)) 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
(Zhuji Jinfu Electrical Equipment 370,000,000k WE & FEEEER
Company Limited) (“Zhuiji Jinfu”) (Notes 2 and 5)
(B2 %5)
REEEFREERAA([AELE]) 47,325,000 Domestic Shares Nominee 12.79% 9.47%
(Shaoxing Qinyuan Electronic Technology 47,325,000 Bk E & REA
Company Limited®) (“Shaoxing Qinyuan”) (Notes 2 and 6)
(Hzt2 k6)
%25 AE Mr. Tang Jingfeng 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000k A E R FmEEER
(Notes 2, 5 and 6)
(Bfi#2 - 5%6)
B %4 Mr. Zhao Zhongxin 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000 & A & i R LRER
(Notes 2 and 5)
(M2ks)
{1518 55 & Mr. He Yanggen 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000 R RE R REEEER
(Notes 2 and 5)
(Hizt2 k5)
Martin Currie China Hedge Fund Limited 14,245,000 H Shares Investment manager 10.96% 2.85%
14,245,000 A& H iRz 5 RERRE
Martin Currie Investment 14,245,000 H Shares Investment manager 10.96% 2.85%
Management Limited 14,245,000 % H i %19 RELE
* For identification purposes only * ERBF
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Domestic Shares of a nominal value of RMBO0.10 each, in the registered capital of the
Company, which are subscribed for or credited as fully-paid in Renminbi. H Share(s)
represent overseas listed foreign share(s) of a nominal value of RMB0.10 each in the
registered capital of the Company, which are listed on the GEM and subscribed for
and traded in Hong Kong dollars.

On 11 July 2016, RuiYuan Robot entered into a share transfer agreement with Wanli,
Mr. Qi and other parties, pursuant to which, among other things, RuiYuan Robot
agreed to acquire (i) the First Batch Sale Shares from Wanli and Mr. Qi and (i) the
Second Batch Sale Shares from Mr. Qi. After completion of the transfer of the First
Batch Sale Shares and the Second Batch Sale Shares, RuiYuan Robot and parties
acting in concert with it owned an aggregate of 370,000,000 Domestic Shares,
representing 74% of the entire issued share of the Company as at 31 December 2024.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 December 2017,
RuiYuan Robot has pledged its 322,675,000 domestic shares of the Company
(representing 64.535% of the total issued share capital of the Company) to an
independent third party for serving Zhejiang RuiYuan’s own purpose and fulfilling its
responsibilities.

RuiYuan Robot is a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
and is owned as to 55% by Hangzhou Qindie and as to 45% by Zhuiji Jinfu.

Hangzhou Qindie is a company established in the PRC and is owned as to 51% by Mr.
He Keng and as to 49% by Mr. Tang Jingfeng. Zhuji Jinfu is a company established
in the PRC and is owned as to 50% by Mr. Zhao Zhongxin and as to 50% by Mr. He
Yanggen.

Shaoxing Qinyuan,to whom the second Batch Sale Shares were transferred, is the
nominee for RuiYuan Robot and a company that is owned as to 60% by Mr. He and
40% by Mr. Tang Jinfeng.

Save as discussed above, the Directors are not aware of any person (other
than the Directors whose interests are set out in the section headed
“Directors’, Chief Executives’ and Supervisors’ Interests and Short
Positions” above) holding any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
required to be recorded in the register pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO as at 31 December 2024.

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of
Hong Kong) when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by
the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate governance report of the Company is set out on page 31 to
page 48 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Reporting Period
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
— the largest customer 45%
— five largest customers combined 98%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 69%
— five largest suppliers combined 97%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has an interest in the major suppliers and major customers noted
above.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

According to our business nature and pursuant to the relevant laws of
the PRC/Hong Kong, there are no specific environmental standards and/
or requirements for conducting the Group’s business.

Please refer to the Company’s 2024 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report published separately for details about environmental,
social and governance matters.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group ensures that all the employees are reasonably remunerated
and maintains good relationship with its employees. For details, please
refer to the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Employees and Remuneration Policies” and “Report of the Directors —
Corporate Social Responsibilities” of this annual report, respectively. The
Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy workplace for its
employees and encourage them to have a work-life balance.

On 7 November 2016, a former employee of the Company, filed a claim
with the Labour Tribunal of Hong Kong against the Company and its
former subsidiary, Hong Kong Wan Li Enterprise Company Limited
(together the “Respondent”) for a compensation of approximately
HK$2,600,000. As of the date of this report, the dispute between the
Claimant and the Group are still in progress, the result of the case has
not yet come up and the Directors are of the opinion that the Company
has strong grounds to defend the claim. An amount of RMB86,000 was
made in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024, and no further provisions was made thereafter.

Details of the dispute are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers. The sales
personnel make regular visits and/or phone calls to the customers.
If there is any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the
management and immediate remedial action will be taken and feedback
from customers will be followed till settlement of the complaint.
Thereafter, the cause of such complaint will be studied, analysed and
evaluated and recommendations will be in place for improvement.

The Group also maintains good relationship with its suppliers. During the
year, no complaint was received from the suppliers and there were no
disputed debts or unsettled debts and all the debts were settled on or
before due dates or a latest date as mutually agreed.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

Details of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 are
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on page 31 to page 48.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group, are set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the transactions described therein fall under the definition of
connected transaction which are not fully exempted from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirement under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations was made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As of the date of this report, there are no significant events after the
Reporting Period.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, Supervisors and the controlling shareholders of
the Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had any interest in any business that directly or indirectly
competes with the business of the Group or has any other conflicts of
interest.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matter, including the review of the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year have been audited by KTC
Partners CPA Limited, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company. The Company has not changed its auditors over the last three
years.

On behalf of the Board

He Keng
Chairman

Ningbo, The PRC, 20 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Unless otherwise stated, reference of the code provisions made in this
corporate governance report in relation to the CG Code is referred to
the provisions contained in the Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules in
force during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company recognises the importance of the corporate culture, which
is instilled and continuously reinforced across the Group. The Company
has developed its core culture and visions to enhance team cohesion
and realise complementary advantages and sincere cooperation, so
as to facilitate the Company’s long-term sustainable development. The
Board believes that the Company’s established objectives, values and
strategies are aligned with its corporate culture, and will continue to act
with integrity, lead by example, and promote the Company’s desired
corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance.

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures.
The maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate
governance practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The
Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework
that is essential for effective management, successful business growth
and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

Continuous efforts are made to review and enhance the Group’s
internal controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations and
developments in best practices. To us, maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices is not just complying with the provisions
but also the intent of the regulations to enhance corporate performance
and accountability.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code except the following
deviation (code provision C.2.1):

Mr. He Keng is the chairman of the Board. The Company has no
such title as the chief executive officer and the daily operation and
management of the Company is monitored by the executive Directors as
well as the senior management. The Board is of the view that although
there is no chief executive officer, the balance of power and authority is
ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced
individuals and meet from time to time to discuss issues affecting the
operations of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has appointed 3 independent non-executive Directors.
The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company still considers all
the existing independent non-executive Directors to be independent. All
the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a three-year
term.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding transactions in securities of the Company by the Directors and
Supervisors (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry with
all Directors and Supervisors, the Directors and Supervisors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard of dealings and the
Code of Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2024. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Code of
Conduct by the relevant employee during the Reporting Period.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the GEM Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:
Executive Directors Mr. He Keng (Chairman)
Mr. Yao Yongtao
(appointed on 5 March 2025)
Mr. Chen Weigiang
Ms. Zou Jing
Ms. Wu Shanhong
(resigned on 5 March 2025)\°t !

Independent Non-Executive Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie

Directors Mr. Zhou Weibo
Ms. Sheng Ting
Note:
1. Ms. Wu Shanhong has resigned as an executive Director with effect from 5 March

2025 in order to devote more time on her other personal career development.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises seven members,
including four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Each of the members possesses sufficient experience and
qualification which enable them to discharge their duties properly.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including age, education background, skills and
experience.

The Company has formulated internal policies (including but not limited
to the Articles of Association, the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee and the nomination policy) to ensure that the Board can
obtain independent views and input. These policies cover the Company’s
procedures and selection criteria for the election of directors (including
independent non-executive directors), the right of independent non-
executive directors to propose a suspension of proposals by the Board.
The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
above mechanisms and believes that the above mechanism can ensure
that the Board obtains independent views and input.

The chairman of the Board is responsible for the formulation and review
of the Group’s overall development strategies. The daily operation is
delegated to the executive Directors and senior management. None of
the independent non-executive Directors is interested in the business
of the Group and their independence has to be confirmed upon
appointment or re-appointment. Currently, there is no financial, business,
family or other relevant material relationship among the existing Directors.
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According to the Articles of Association, all the Directors shall be elected
at the general meeting of the shareholders and the term of office shall be
three years, and shall be eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term.

ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

Board meetings are conducted on a periodic basis and with reference to
the operation needs. During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total
of 4 Board meetings and 1 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were held by
Company, and the attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

RIBARIER  MAEERANBRRRE LESRE
B EH=F  MERERR ATABRET

B E R

EFeTHIRREBMTRITEH RNEE_F
TEFTA=t+—HIEFER RARFAHE
TAREZGEHRRNRERBEREG (RRE
FAR)  BNBFZHFEBEREINOT

Attendance/Number of
meetings held

HEBITEERE

Board

meetings AGM
Name of Director EENSR EEEEE RREFKE
Mr. He Keng (Chairman) B (/) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yao Yongtao (appointed on 5 March 2025) B ELRAE (R - E - AF = A7 HEZ(T) N/A 73 A N/A i A3
Mr. Chen Weigiang PR & 58 ST A 4/4 1/1
Ms. Zou Jing Bzt 4/4 1/1
Ms. Wu Shanhong (resigned on 5 March 2025) RS¥R4I 4+ (R =—Z = HF= H 7 AET) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zhou Weibo BERLELE 4/4 11
Ms. Sheng Ting [Py etun 4/4 1/1
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie Ep e 4/4 1/1

The chairman of the Board attended AGM to answer questions and
collect views of shareholders. All Directors, company secretary and the
auditors had attended the AGM to answer questions at the meeting.

Except for the AGM, the Company did not hold any other general
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024.

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND OF REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in Note 13 to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

The Company has one senior management member. Pursuant to code
provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, remuneration of senior management by
band of remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out
below:

FrENAa 5l

Remuneration bands
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and
be collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising
and managing management’s performance of the Group; and setting
the Group’s values and standards. The Board delegates the day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group to management.
The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure
that they accommodate the needs of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary. At least
10 days’ notice of regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and
they can include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think fit.
The agenda accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors at least
3 days or a shorter period agreed by the directors before the date of a
regular Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the Directors to
review the documents.

Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their
perusal and comments prior to confirmation of the minutes. The Board
also ensures that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary
information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge
its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of the
company secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed and they are also entitled
to have full access to Board papers and related materials so that they
are able to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. He Keng (“Mr. He”) is the chairman of the Board of the Company. Mr.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and policy making of
the Group.

The Company has no such title as the chief executive officer and
therefore the daily operation and management of the Company is
monitored by the executive Directors as well as the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no chief executive officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
Board, which comprises experienced individuals and meet from time to
time to discuss issues affecting operation of the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors shall be elected at
general meetings and shall hold office for a term of three years and shall
be eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term. Each of the executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. All Directors also participate in
continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. A
record of the training received by the respective Directors are kept and
updated by the company secretary of the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended
31 December 2024 is summarized below:

HeE_Z-_WF+-_A=+—RHILFE"
Pz 853l 2 @R R st an T

BE=R

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/conference(s)
relevant to the business or
Directors’ duties

HEEBXKIESTHEZ

BHEFRE gEFEZER
Mr. He Keng (Chairman) B (E/E) v
Mr. Yao Yongtao (appointed on 5 March 2025) #kBERE (R - - AF=AFHEZT) N/A 3 B
Mr. Chen Weigiang BRIEREE v
Ms. Zou Jing BEr Lt v
Ms. Wu Shanhong (resigned on 5 March 2025) R4+ (K= Z = HE= H 7 HEHF) v/
Mr. Zhou Weibo BRI E 4
Ms. Sheng Ting BRI+ v
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie Pl 4
All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous 2% $7TT%§Z |[HEBXER B - AH
professional development and are committed to participating any suitable  ZEERIE&E 2L ABERBH RS 2 M35
training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. TR

Mr. Yao Yongtao, who was appointed as Director on 5 March 2025, has
obtained the legal advice as stipulated under Rule 5.02D of the GEM
Listing Rules on 5 March 2025, and has confirmed he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises
3 independent non-executive Directors, who have reviewed the annual
results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. Mr.
Kwok Kim Hung, Eddie, is the chairman of the Audit Committee who has
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for monitoring the quality
of internal control and ensuring that the financial performance of the
Company is properly measured and reported on, receiving and reviewing
reports from management and the auditors relating to the annual,
quarterly and interim results, and monitoring the accounting and internal
control system in use throughout the Group. The Audit Committee held 4
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least 4 times a year. 4 meetings were held for

BEREBERE SREZ8e8F AR VBT
AREZ -BHE_Z_NF+_A=+—HLF

the year ended 31 December 2024. The attendance of each memberis & @ BXZEEDEBIT 748 - SAUKE
set out as follows: HEERESINT

Attendance/
Number of
meetings held
HE BT
Name of members of Audit Committee ERZEERENA SR2XY
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie (Chairman) SRS (/) 4/4
Mr. Zhou Weibo [ e 4/4
Ms. Sheng Ting BRIEA+ 4/4

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have an internal audit
function but had appointed an external consultant to review the material
controls of the Group on a continuous basis and aims to cover all major
operations of the Group on a cyclical basis. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, reviewed the appraisal performed by the an independent
auditor on the Company’s risk management and internal control systems.
Based on information furnished to it and its own observations, the Board
is satisfied that the present internal control and risk management systems
of the Group are effective and adequate in all material respects.

At the meetings held during the Reporting Period, in performing its duties
in accordance with its terms of reference, the work performed by the
Audit Committee included:

(@ review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control system and risk management of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

(b)  recommendation to the Board, for the approval by shareholders,
of the re-appointment of the external auditor and approval of their
remuneration;

(c)  determination of the nature and scope of the audit; and

(d) review the financial statements for the relevant periods.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 22 March 2012 comprising the 3
independent non-executive Directors and 1 executive Director. Ms.
Sheng Ting is the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include
consulting the chairman of the Board about their remuneration proposals
for other executive Directors, making recommendation to the Board on
the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management and the Remuneration Committee has adopted
the approach under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.

Meeting of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a
year. 1 meeting was held during the year ended 31 December 2024.
During the meeting, remuneration packages, performance and service
contracts of the Directors were reviewed and approved, no change was
proposed to the remuneration policy.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

meetings held

Name of members of HE BT
Remuneration Committee FMESEREHE ERRY
Ms. Sheng Ting (Chairman) BIELZL (EF) 11
Mr. He Keng A8 % A 1/1
Mr. Zhou Weibo RV e A 1/1
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie SL @I M S A 11

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED 39

TR S ER RN BRAF



Corporate Governance Report
ALY Ao S/ 2
TEERME

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
was established on 22 March 2012 comprising the 3 independent non-
executive Directors and 1 executive Director. Mr. Zhou Weibo is currently
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available at the Company’s website and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least once a year, making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategies, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members (select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships), assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors in particular the chairman; and reporting to the Board on
its decisions or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy to have a well
diversified Board of Directors by considering a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural/education and
professional background, skills, knowledge and experience.

The Board consists of seven Directors, three of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee and Board are of
the view that the diversity of the Board is embodied in terms of age, skills,
expertise, knowledge and educational background.

The Company attaches great importance to gender diversity. As at
the date of this report, the proportion of female Directors on the Board
reached 29%, including 2 female Directors among the 7 Directors,
representing a relatively high level of gender diversity. The Company will
regularly review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure that it meets the
Company’s needs and reflects regulatory regulations and good corporate
governance practices.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for directors. The factors
considered by the Nomination Committee in assessing candidates
include, but are not limited to: (a) the structure, size and composition
of the Board; (b) the diversity of the Board in terms of background, skill
and experience (including but not limited to gender, age, education
and professional background, skills, knowledge and experience); (c)
the compliance with the independence criteria set out in Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules for the appointment of independent non-
executive directors; and (d) any other relevant factors as determined by
the Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time, and make
recommendations on appointing board candidates or re-appointing
existing members of the Board.

The appointments of directors will be proposed to the Board after the
Nomination Committee assesses the above factors. The Nomination
Committee will annually assess and report to the Board on the
composition of the Board in a context of diversity and keep an watch on
the implementation thereof.

Meeting of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once a
year. 1 meeting was held during the year ended 31 December 2024.
Issues concerning the structure, size and composition of the Board were
discussed.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:
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Mr. Zhou Weibo (Chairman) MR S (F/E) 1/1
Mr. He Keng (=5 11
Ms. Sheng Ting BiEat 1/1
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie PRI 1/1
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and information to the Board
and reports regularly to the Board on financial position and prospects
of the business of the Company so as to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the
Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report) for preparing the financial statements
of the Group that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group. The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements
prepared by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of
the Company. A statement by auditor about their reporting responsibility
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining adequate system of internal
controls and risk management within the Group and for reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems of internal controls and risk management
are designed to facilitate effective and efficient operations, to safeguard
assets and to ensure the quality of internal and external reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. They are also designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material
misstatement or loss can be avoided, and to manage and minimize
risks of failure in operation systems. The Company is committed to
implementing a stricter and more regulated internal control and risk
management procedures in the new financial year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board engaged an
external consultant conduct a review on the Group’s internal control and
risk management systems and its effectiveness. No significant area of
concern that may affect the financial, operational, compliance, internal
control and risk management of the Group has been identified, and
considers them effective and adequate.

The Group conducts review of the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems and its effectiveness regularly to ensure the
interest of shareholders is safeguarded.
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OBJECTIVES OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

° to strengthen the Company’s risk (including the material risks
relating to environmental, social and governance) management
and internal control in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements;

° to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control systems; and

° to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.
THREE-TIER RISK MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence,
business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring
risks associated with each business or deal. The finance department, as
the second line of defence, defines rule sets and models, oversees and
reports risk management matters to the Board. It ensures that risks are
within the acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective.
As the final line of defence, the Board together with the Audit Committee
of the Company, with the professional advices and opinions from the
external professional Company by whom internal audit work of the Group
was conducted on annual basis, ensures that the first and second lines
of defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

PRINCIPLES OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Our risk management and internal control systems involve five elements
as internal environment, risk assessment, control activities, information
and communication and internal supervision. The aim of internal
control is to reasonably guarantee the compliance of its operation and
management with regulations and laws, assets security, and authenticity
and integrity of financial report and related information, improve the
efficiency and effectiveness of operating activities and promote the
realization of development strategy of the Group.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for the appointment
of the external auditors, including the engagement of non-auditing tasks
and fees. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
paid/payable to its auditors, KTC Partners CPA Limited are set out as
follows:

SMNEB B

RRB|ERZESBEZEINEZEE - BIE3E
ZEHENTIERER REBEE-ZT-NOF+=
A=Z+—BLEFER  ARGEREAEZE
BRI E S EBMABRAR 2S5 1
T

Fee paid/payable

e EBNNER

RMB’000

Services Rendered Fri2 LM IR A% AREFIT
Audit Service EAZ RIS 585
Non-audit services IEE LIRS -
585

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Zou Jing (“Ms. Zou”) and Mr. Cheng Ching Kit (“Mr. Cheng”)
were appointed as the joint company secretaries of the Company on
7 February 2018 and 11 June 2018 respectively. The biographical
details of Ms. Zou and Mr. Cheng are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”.

Mr. Cheng is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited, and assists Ms. Zou in company secretarial
affairs. The primary corporate contact person of Mr. Cheng at the
Company is Ms. Zou.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Ms. Zou and Mr. Cheng
have taken separately no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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INVESTORS’ RELATIONS

The Company places great emphasis on its relationship and
communication with investors. The Company has numerous
communication channels, such as press conference and seminars, to
communicate with the media, analysts and fund managers. Designated
senior management staff holds dialogue with analysts, fund managers
and investors, who are also arranged to visit the Company and
investment projects from time to time, so as to keep them abreast of
the Group’s business and latest developments. In addition, investors
can also visit the Company’s website at www.ruiyuanhk.cn for the most
updated information and the status of the business development of the
Group.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 June 2024,
a special resolution was passed by the shareholders approving certain
amendments to the Articles of Association to allow the Company to (i)
comply with the PRC regulations changes, (i) disseminate corporate
communications electronically and (iii) make certain house-keeping
amendments to the Articles of Association. Details of the amendments
were set out in the Company’s circular dated 13 May 2024. Investors
may obtain the latest Articles of Association from the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has a shareholder communication policy that sets out
strategies for promoting effective communication with Shareholders to
ensure that Shareholders receive sufficient information and enable them
to actively participate in the Company’s activities and exercise their rights
knowingly.

The Board and senior management recognise the responsibility of
safeguarding the interest of Shareholders and provide highly transparent
and real-time information on the Company so as to keep the Shareholders
and investors abreast of the Company’s position and help them to make
the best investment decision. The Company believes that maintaining
good and effective communication with shareholders can facilitate the
Shareholders’ understanding of the business performance and strategies
of the Group. The Board and senior management also recognise the
responsibility of safeguarding the interest of the Shareholders. In order to
safeguard the Shareholders’ interest, the Company reports its financial
and operating performance to Shareholders through annual reports,
interim reports and quarterly reports. Shareholders can also obtain
information of the Group in time through annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and the
Company’s website (www.ruiyuanhk.cn).
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The annual general meetings are an appropriate forum for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Shareholders
can raise questions directly to the Board in respect of the performance
and future development of the Group at annual general meetings.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the policy and its
implementation and is of the view that it remains effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to provide guidance to the
Board on whether to declare and distribute dividends. In order to keep
sufficient reserves for the future development of the Company, the Board
will appraise its dividend policy based on the operations and earnings,
cash flow, financial position, capital and other reserve requirements and
surplus, contractual restrictions and its overall financial conditions and
any other conditions or factors that the Board considers relevant, so as
to determine or recommend dividends for any financial year and also the
number, amount and form of dividends paid.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other
than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general
meeting (‘EGM”).

RIGHT TO CONVENE EGM

Pursuant to Article 52 of the Articles of Association, shareholders
individually or jointly holding 10% or more of the Company’s issued
shares carrying voting rights requests in writing to the Company’s
registered office: Factory, No. 3, Laiyan Road West, Economic
Development Zone (South Side), Yuyao City, Zhejiang Province, China for
convening of an EGM.

The Board shall, in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations
and the Articles of Association, furnish a written reply stating its
agreement or disagreement to the convening of the general meeting
within ten days upon receipt of such proposal.

In the event that the Board agrees to convene a general meeting, the
notice of the general meeting shall be issued within 5 days after the
passing of the relevant resolution of the Board. Any change to the original
proposal made in the notice requires approval of the shareholders
concerned.
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In the event that the Board does not agree to convene a general meeting
or does not furnish any reply within 10 days upon receipt of the said
proposal, shareholders individually or collectively holding 10% or more
of the Company’s shares shall be entitled to propose to the Supervisory
Committee to convene a general meeting, provided that such proposal
shall be made in writing.

Pursuant to Article 55 of the Articles of Association, the Company shall
calculate, according to the written replies received 20 days before
the date of the meeting, the number of shares carrying voting rights
represented by the shareholders attending the meeting. The Company
may convene a general meeting if the number of shares carrying voting
rights represented by shareholders intending to attend aggregates to
more than half of the total number of shares carrying such rights. If not,
the Company shall make an announcement within five days, once again
notifying the shareholders of the matters proposed to be considered and
the date and place of the meeting. Once an announcement has been so
made, the Company may convene the general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting shall abide by the
following procedures:

(i) Two or more shareholders holding in aggregate 10% or more of
the shares carrying the right to vote at the meeting sought to be
held shall sign a written requisition in one or more counterparts
in the same form and contents, requiring the board of Directors
to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class meeting
thereof and stating the matters to be considered at the meeting.
The board of Directors shall, as soon as possible after receipt of
the requisition, convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class
meeting thereof. The aforementioned number of shares held by the
shareholders shall be calculated based on the date of submission
of the written requisition.

(i) If the board of Directors fails to issue a notice to convene such
meeting within 10 days from the date of receipt of the requisition,
the requisitioning shareholders may themselves convene such
meeting within 4 months of the receipt of the requisition by the
board of Directors. In so convening a meeting, the requisitioning
shareholders shall adopt a procedure as similar possible as that of
general meetings convened by the board of Directors.
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All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitioning shareholders as a
result of the failure of the board of Directors to convene a meeting and so
convening such meeting themselves as mentioned above shall be borne
by the Company and deducted from any sums due to such defaulting
Directors by the Company.

RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

Pursuant to Article 54 of the Articles of Association, the Board of
Directors, the Board of Supervisors and shareholders severally or jointly
holding 1% or above shares of the Company shall be entitled to submit
proposals to the Company at the general meeting.

Shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding 1% or above of shares of
the Company shall have the right to submit a temporary proposal to the
convener in writing 10 days prior to the holding of the general meeting;
the convener shall, within 2 days after its receipt of such a proposal,
issue an supplementary notice of the general meeting, and announce the
contents of the temporary proposal. If the listing rules of the place where
the Company’s shares are listed provide otherwise, such rules shall also
be complied with.

RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post to registered office of the Company in
the PRC: Factory No. 3 Laiyan Road West, Economic Development Zone
(South Side), Yuyao City, Zhejiang Province, China for the attention of
Ms. Zou Jing, the Joint Company Secretary.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B R E

KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

T MEEAMEERERAE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY
COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhejiang
RuiYuan Intelligent Control Technology Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 54 to 110, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BMIREESENRROABRAF
B AR R

(R ARAMBEEM KR AERAF)
=R

AZYEEBRZINENES4EM0ENTIRES
ERBEBROERAR(ERR ) REKBAR (A
BIEREDNEAMBRE EFEER-F
TOFET A=+ ANGEAMBIRARERE
ZHIEFENGEABARREMEERRAR KA
RESHRLEARTRER  UREAMBER
KW BRIESTBERLEMHAER -

AZEMRR  REGREVBRRERET LS
SHEAE ((BESFRAE ) BANEBMBER
SRA(EBHBRELR D EEER TR
B EEER-_ZT-_MNF+-_A=+—RZ&KAE
BB - REBREZALFEZHEEPBERIR
MigaBReneg YoOmREBR G ZKE
MEMBZERS -

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED 49

TR S ER RN BRAF



Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B R E

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB1,298,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and, as
of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
RMB53,566,000 and capital deficiency of approximately RMB53,445,000.
These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B R E

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group as a basis for forming
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B R E

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

KTC Partner CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong, 20 March 2025

Chow Yin Kwan Yvonne
Practising Certificate Number PO7989
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Gomprehensive Income
ireBm LA EWmR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_Z-_M&+-_A=-+—BLtFE

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaF AR¥T R AREET T
Revenue Uk 2 5 22,279 21,783
Cost of sales 5 & BN (20,510) (20,158)
Gross profit ER 1,769 1,625
Other income and other gains HAp U A R H Al a5 7 6 18
Selling expenses SHERMZ (319) (306)
Administrative expenses THEH (2,663) (2,571)
Finance costs BB AR 8 (91) (2,280)
Loss before taxation MR AT B 1B 9 (1,298) (3,514)
Income tax expense Frg®if = 10 - -
Loss and total comprehensive loss RATEE AEN
for the year attributable to FREBEREZHEEIRALE
owners of the Company (1,298) (3,614)
Loss per share BREE
(RMB’ cents) (AR%D) 14
Basic SN (0.26) (0.70)
Diluted e N/A ~EA N/A 7~
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

“re MR

At 31 Deoember 2024
RZZT-ME+=-A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NE —E=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

et AR®TR ARBTT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Plant and equipment = KR 15 121 144
121 144
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories e | 16 25 29
Trade receivables FEWE RN 17 12 371
Prepayments, deposits and A IA - ke &k
other receivables H o IR X 1 4
Tax recoverable AT U B 7 3R 4 1
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS 18 11,999 12,768
12,041 13,173
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables FERTE SRR 19 3,695 4,095
Other payables and accruals E{ﬂgfﬁﬁé KN EETE A 20 761 729
Contract liabilities aHaE 21 19 410
Amount due to a shareholder of JE B ARG A B — B IR
ultimate holding company EQL| 22 7,740 7,790
Amount due to a major shareholder FE— R EEARERIA 23 46,000 46,000
Bank borrowings RITER 24 2,952 2,000
Dividends payables FERTRZ B 25 4,440 4,440
(65,607) (65,464)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEFHE (53,566) (52,291)
NET LIABILITIES BaE (53,445) (52,147)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRR#EE
Share capital A% 7 26 50,000 50,000
Reserves G (103,445) (102,147)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY BEXRE A (53,445) (52,147)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

DN =7 JTNNN
4R e B RSN 2R
At 31 December 2024
R-ZT-MFE+-H=+—H
The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 110 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March 2025 and

are signed on its behalf by:

He Keng
148
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

He= N\ 7 4=y
\/_-]_\ / ~ II\EIII\ EE
A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2N
Statutory
Share Capital Other surplus  Accumulated
capital reserve reserves reserve losses Total
EERS
[N B Htbfife AEE RitER st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%TR
(Note i) (Note i) (Note iii)
(PzEi) (BisEi) (PsEii)
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%—F—H 50,000 40,449 291,319 25,465 (455,866 (48,633)
Loss and total comprehensive  FREIE R 2 EEELE
loss for the year - - - - (3,514) (3,514)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZ_=F+-A=1t—-BRK
1 January 2024 “E-QNE-F—H 50,000 40,449 291,319 25,465 (459,380) (52,147)
Loss and total comprehensive A& 1E K 2 [ 1B 2%
loss for the year - - - - (1,298) (1,298)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-ME+-A=+-H 50,000 40,449 291,319 25,465 (460,678) (53,445)
Notes: B
i) CAPITAL RESERVE (i) ERFHE

(i)

(iii)

Capital reserve includes the share premium arising from the issuance of H shares after
deduction of the respective share issuance costs of the Company.

OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves represent the waiver of the amounts due to a former major shareholder
upon change in shareholding in the Company in previous year, the difference between
the fair value of the loan from a major shareholder and the amount received in May
2017, gain on extinguishment of the loan from a major shareholder in May 2020, and
waiver of amount due to a major shareholder.

STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE

The Articles of Association of the Company and its subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) require the appropriation of 10% of their
profit after income tax determined under the PRC accounting standards each year to
the statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered share
capital. According to the provision of the Company’s Articles of Association, under
normal circumstances, the statutory surplus reserve shall only be used for making up
losses, capitalisation into share capital and expansion of the Company’s production
and operation. For the capitalisation of statutory surplus reserve into share capital, the
remaining amount of such reserve shall not be less than 25% of the registered share
capital.

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LII\/IITED
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=IAN PaNy.=u—1
EReRER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss before taxation bR A E 1B (1,298) (3,514)
Adjustments for: BB T5IIEE A
Depreciation of plant and equipment s MR T e 23 57
Finance costs BhE RN 91 2,280
Reversal of impairment loss on o R SORE R 18
trade receivables 2 -
Operating cash flows before movements &EELEHANLERSHE
in working capital (1,186) (1,177)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLD,/ () 4 (20)
Decrease in trade receivables JEWE 5 RRFOR 361 2,551
Decrease in prepayments, AR - ke REMERIRK
deposits and other receivables B 3 32
Decrease in trade payables JETE SRR (400) (4,246)
Increase in other payables and accruals E bR R AT E A0 32 90
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERY (391) (1,101)
Cash used in operations REXKFMARS (1,577) (3,871)
Income tax paid BERATEH () (72)
NET CASH USED IN REXBAREFEE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,580) (3,943)

58 ANNUAL REPORT 2024
ZE ZUFEFIR




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\\/T\/\fﬁi//m%?ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—E_NE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEEE
(Repayment to)/advance from a shareholder of 2k B & ALY A 7l — B AR
ultimate holding company (BF) =3 (50) 50
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIERPTISRIE 3,000 2,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBRITENR (2,048) -
Interest paid ERFE (91) -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METEHMEREFE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 811 2,050
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRRLESEERRD
CASH EQUIVALENTS FE (769) (1,893)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REYHESRRESESEER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 12,768 14,661
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERNESRESZEEEASE
AT THE END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and cash BNERITAE SR IR & 11,999 12,768
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Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
A B ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_Z-_M&+-_A=-+—BLtFE

1.

60

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Control Technology Company
Limited (the “Company”) is a joint stock limited liability company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
its shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd, a
company incorporated in the PRC. Its ultimate holding company
is Hangzhou Qindie Electronic Equipment Company Limited, a
company incorporated in the PRC. Its ultimate controlling party is
Mr. He Keng, who is also the Chairman and Executive Director of
the Company.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the Annual Report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“BMB”). The functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is RMB.

The principal activities of the Group are sales of controller
systems for electronic equipment and electronic component and
subassembly for electronic appliances and manufacturing and sales
of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical products in the PRC.
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Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
A SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION — Continued
Going concern

During the year, the Group incurred a net loss for the year of
approximately RMB1,298,000. At 31 December 2024, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately RMB53,566,000 and
capital deficiency of approximately RMB53,445,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liability in the normal course of business.
Nevertheless, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have
performed an assessment of the Group’s future liquidity and cash
flows, taking into account the following relevant matters:

(i) The Directors will strengthen to implement measures aiming
of improving the working capital and cash flows of the
Group including closely monitoring the general administrative
expenses and operating costs.

(i) A major shareholder of the Company and a shareholder
of ultimate holding company confirm to provide adequate
financial support to the Group as is necessary to ensure its
continuing operation for a period at least twelve months from
the date of this report.

(i)  Amount due to a shareholder of ultimate holding company
of approximately RMB7,740,000 as at 31 December 2024 is
repayable on demand. The shareholder of ultimate holding
company confirm that he will not demand for repayment until
the Group has improved its liquidity position.

(ivy  Amount due to a major shareholder approximately
RMB46,000,000 as at 31 December 2024 is interest-free
and repayable on demand. The major shareholder of the
Company confirms that he will not demand for repayment
until the Group has improved its liquidity position.

The Directors consider that after taking into account the
abovementioned financing plans and financial support of the major
shareholder, the Group will have sufficient working capital to satisfy
its present requirements for at least the next twelve months from
the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to the consolidated financial statements to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effect
of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

2.

62

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and

related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretations 5

(2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= =+ RSN
ir e BA SR I E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) — Continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!
Amendments HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards —
Volume 113
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

2.

64

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) — Continued

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and add an
exception which permits an entity to deem a financial liability to be
discharged before the settlement date if it is settled in cash using
an electronic payment system if, and only if certain conditions are
met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments
specify that an entity should focus on what an entity is being
compensated for rather than the compensation amount.
Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is not a basic
lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in some cases,
a contingent feature may give rise to contractual cash flows that
are consistent with a basic lending arrangement both before and
after the change in contractual cash flows, but the nature of the
contingent event itself does not relate directly to changes in basic
lending risks and costs. Furthermore, the description of the term
“non-recourse” is enhanced and the characteristics of “contractually
linked instruments” are clarified in the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are amended. In particular, entities are
required to disclose the fair value gain or loss presented in other
comprehensive income during the period, showing separately
those related to investments derecognised during the reporting
period and those related to investments held at the end of
the reporting period. An entity is also required to disclose any
transfers of the cumulative gain or loss within equity related to the
investments derecognised during the reporting period. In addition,
the amendments introduce the requirements of qualitative and
quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that could affect the
contractual cash flow based on a contingent even not directly
relating to basic lending risks and cost.
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Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) — Continued

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments — Continued

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in
the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.

66

(@

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”).

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION —
Continued

3.

(b)

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION —
Continued

3.

68

(b)

Material accounting policy information —
Continued

Basis of consolidation — Continued
Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to
contracts with customers is provided in Notes 5 and 21.

Financial Instruments
Financial liabilities and equity
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities, including trade payables,
other payables and accruals, amount due to a shareholder
of ultimate holding company, amount due to a major
shareholder, bank borrowings and dividends payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MAEGREVEBRRNEEREARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL FTHRER — &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION —
Continued
(b) Material accounting policy information — (b) BEAREHBRER — &
Continued
Cash and cash equivalents BeRELESHEER
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated Re RIREFEIEEB KRGS MBI
statement of financial position include: REH - BE
(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand @ We EBEFER®KEH
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to BT T@ﬁ*‘ﬁ“ﬁ.ﬁl@é%wﬂﬁ&f
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no HEMERTEREREESR
longer meeting the definition of cash; and BERITAEER ©
(o) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term ) ReFEEE HEEEH(CH
(generally with original maturity of three months or less), BRIAAR=MEAKER)
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to AIERFEH AR MEEERTH
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an BEZHER T AN REE
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents KE -ReFEEBEHRBERRE
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash FEHIR AL MIEANKE
commitments rather than for investment or other HAME R
purposes.
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash MmeRenERns  BEkBRe
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash LEEEBELXAMATHES KR
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank ©EEER MRAERERKEERE
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an RASLERSEE —HoMRERR
integral part of the Group’s cash management. THX °
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4.

70

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimated and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimation (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessments of the going concern assumptions involve making
judgement by the Directors, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The Directors consider that the Group has the ability to
continue as a going concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively
may cast significant doubt about the going concern assumptions
are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— Continued

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies —
Continued

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in (1) sales of controller systems for electronic
equipment and electronic component and subassembly for
electronic appliances and (2) sales of CNC machine tools optical
and mechanical products. The Group concluded that the Group
acts as the principal for such transactions as it controls the
specified good before it is transferred to the customer after
taking into consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified goods,
and has discretion in establishing the price for the specified
goods. The Group has inventory risk. When the Group satisfies
the performance obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue
in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled as specified in the contracts. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group recognised revenue relating to
sales of controller systems for electronic equipment and electronic
component and subassembly for electronic appliances and sales of
CNC machine tools optical and mechanical products amounted to
approximately RMB22,279,000 (2023: RMB21,783,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainly at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— Continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty — Continued
Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables which
are individually insignificant. The provision rates are primarily on
the debtors’ aging profiles as groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the
Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
are disclosed in Notes 17 and 32(b). The carrying amount of the
Group’s trade receivables amounted to approximately RMB12,000
(2023: RMB371,000).
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5. REVENUE 5. W&
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () HBEEFESINRZED R
customers
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Type of goods Honfan
Sales of controller systems for electronic ~ $HEZFREREFTHN
equipment and electronic component RIS EGERET
and subassembly for electronic A mEH
appliances 13,947 13,016
Sales of CNC machine tools optical SHE BUTHOR L E
and mechanical products 8,332 8,767
Timing of revenue recognition U 25 FE R RS 25
At point in time R Y 22,279 21,783
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REVENUE — Continued

5.

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies

Revenue from sales of controller systems for electronic
equipment and electronic component and subassembly
for electronic appliances (“electronic products”) and
sales of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical
products (“mechanical products”)

The Group sells electronic products and mechanical products
to the wholesale market. Revenue is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been delivered to the wholesaler’s specific location (“delivery”).
Following the delivery, the wholesaler has full discretion over
the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
The normal credit term is 90 days upon delivery.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for electronic
products and mechanical products such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts for sales of
electronic products and mechanical products that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), being the executive
directors of the Company, in order to allocate resources to
segments and to assess their performance. No operating segments
identified by the chief operating decision maker have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are: (i) Sales

of controller systems for electronic products; and (ii) Sales of
mechanical products. The CODM considers the Group has two
operating and reportable segments which are based on the internal
organisation and reporting structure. This is the basis upon which
the Group is organised.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued

Segment revenues and results

6. 2HMER — &

P LA INE 3

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEBIZAERMEEDTE D 2T R
reportable and operating segment: EEATWOT -
For the year ended 31 December BE+=-A=+—HIFE
Sales of controller systems Sales of
for electronic products mechanical products Consolidated
HEETERNEHBZES HEXBER Re
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
TECmE —Fo-fF  ZEBRCME —Eo-fF ZBECME —To-F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR%®TT AR¥®TR AR%®TT AR¥®TR ARET:
Revenue Wi
— External sales — HIMEE 13,947 13,016 8,332 8,767 22,279 21,783
Segment results DEELE (1,096) (998) 1,023 918 (73) (80)
Unallocated income KA EUA
Other income and gains -4t M A 2 £ At e 6 18
Unallocated expenses & FLH
Depreciation of plant i R RETE
and equipment (5) 1)
Finance costs BER A (91) (2,280)
Other expenses Hipbix (1,135) (1,151)
Loss before taxation iR 18 (1,298) (3,514)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same E D G AT IR B R 3 ATl 2 AN

as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment
results represent (loss)/profit incurred by each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, bank interest income, and
depreciation of plant and equipment. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued

6.

6. 2HMER — &

Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAR

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by UTNEIEA 2D BEINNAEBREE K

reportable segment: BEMDIT

At 31 December R+=BF=+—H

Sales of controller systems Sales of
for electronic products mechanical products Consolidated
HEETERNEHBZES HEXBER Re
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBCME  —TCo=F  ZBINE —TC=F  ZBI@E CTCO=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARBTT ARETRE ARETT AR®TRT ARETT
Segment assets DHEE 121 416 42 133 163 549
Unallocated corporate kA FREEE
assets 11,999 12,768

Total assets BEE 12,162 13,317

Segment liabilities AHEE 4,192 4,415 283 819 4,475 5,234

Unallocated corporate  KAFEREEE

liabilities 61,132 60,230

Total liabilities BARE 65,607 65,464

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and BEEDTNRARESSIEHRER

allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other than o ﬁﬁfﬁﬁjzfﬂ“@a%%« ZoEh o MEIRTT
bank balances and cash. Assets used jointly by reportable A RIREBRIN o A 2O I HRF
segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned ﬁﬁﬁ’]éﬁ?hﬂlﬂ'ﬁ%i R 2> & AT AR EX A
by individual reportable segments; and Ias T OB &

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than ° FTEaBEE R TELEH S0 KRB
dividends payables, amount due to a major shareholder/ JEMRRE - BN—RBEBREHK
a shareholder of ultimate holding company and bank b /N %Hx% NIE R ERITIE B

borrowings. Liabilities for which reportable segments are
jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.
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BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued
Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December

Sales of controller systems for
electronic products

HERTERNENEEAR
024 2003
ZBCRE CEoF
RMBOO0  RMBOOO
ARBTR  ARETR

6. oHEH — &
Hithn BEF

BEF+-A=+—HIFE

Sales of
mechanical products Unallocated Consolidated
HEXRER AAR &a
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

“RoRE ZFI-F CBCRE ZToF 0 CRCPE DECCR
RMBOO0  RWBOOO ~ RMBOO0  RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO)
ARRTR ARHTT  ARMTR  ARRTT  ARMTR  ARETR

Amounts includedinthe 84 i85

measure of segment  HYAE Tﬁﬁ

proft or loss or BENE

segment assets:
Depreciation of plantand B Rk B E

equipment ) (12 1] 24 - - (18) (36)
Amounts requiarly THRETIERE

povidedtothechief  RREBRTAEH

operating decision PHERTENEE:

maker but not included

in the measure of

segment profit or loss:
Depreciation of plant 1% REREHE

and equipment - - - - () 21) (9) 1)
Finance costs B - - - - (1) (2,280) 1) 2,280)

76 ANNUAL REPORT 2024
ZE ZUFEFIR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

T A

& B mARM T

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued
Geographical information

The Group’s business is primarily operated in the PRC. All of the
Group’s revenue is attributable to customers in the PRC.

An analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets by
geographical area in which the assets are located has not been
presented as they are all located in the PRC.

Major customers

Turnover from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total turnover of the Group are as follows:

DEPER — &
& E R

AEENEBIBEETELE - AKEZ
WamEBOREPENEP °

MR EE D A EEM B - HUlh I 8%
BEMER 2 BRKRIERN DT
FERF

RIEEFE  KEYAREERLERER
HBE10%NEF Z A EHEINWT

2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Customer A’ ZEA!
Customer B? T ER
Notes:

1. Revenue from sales of controller systems for electronic products.
2. Revenue from sales of mechanical products

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS

10,056 7,692
8,332 6,293

GEE

1. $HE T T E AR SIES R A et

2. SHE S A R

Hal A R H AUz
2024 2023
—E_NE T F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Sundry income I A

Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables # [B] & U BR 5% 51 (B 5 48

4 18
2 —
6 18
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. ®MEAK
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETIT
Interest on bank borrowings IRITEEZFIB 91 -
Imputed interest expense on loan from KE—BEEREERZ
a major shareholder ERpE R - 2,280
91 2,280
9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. PBRFLAIEE
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFIT
Loss before taxation has been arrived BR7 AT ES 18 B kR
at after charging: LATRIER -
Staff costs, excluding chairman, directors’ BIRA(TREEE -
and supervisors’ emoluments EEREEHS)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits in kind —%é‘lﬁﬁﬁmf%%ﬂ 518 408
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions RRNE AR 98 36
Total staff costs w8 TR 616 444
Depreciation of plant and equipment 5 MR T E 23 57
Auditor’s remuneration ZERT 2 585 566
Cost of inventories recognised ERERAFRINFERA
as an expense 20,494 20,141
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. Fif5FiRX
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T

PRC enterprise income tax B TS
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the Company and the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January
2008 onwards.

According to the normal statutory PRC EIT law and relevant rules,
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2027, qualified small and
thin-profit enterprises with an annual taxable income up to RMB3
million (inclusive) is applicable to the effective EIT rate of 5%.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain
subsidiaries of the Company have been qualified as small and thin-
profit enterprises which can enjoy preferential tax rate in the related
period.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for that years.

RIBFBEBEMEHE(TREMEHIE]
REERBEREAERGN A —FTN\F
—A—BE  RNRFRPENMEREH
E125% °

RIEEEAER BB EMESHERARA
Bl - AT _=F—A—HEZ_Z_+tF
+ZA=+—8 ' 2FERHEAEAR
BrBEIEET(EARKIEET)ME
BER/NAMACENERABERCEMSH
HEEE% o

@i—;—mi&—$:_¢+ ﬂ
=t—BLEFE ARAETHEA
ERAENBENRZAERERE EﬁJ\*”?ﬂ
MBE -

HRAKREREE_Z-_NER-T_=
Ft_A=T " BULFEIREEBESL
EAERTEHN - WA ERZFERER
SRR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE — Continued 10.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

Fetim< — &

FAMBHRAN AT RESBE

s M HEHALEE

WEsRATFIR BB IR SRR T

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AREFT
Loss before taxation MRELATE 1B (1,298) (3,5614)
Tax at the statutory applicable tax rate A E @ AR K 25% (Z T - =4 :
of 25% (2023: 25%) 25%) T E K FLIE (325) (878)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MREmMS N NEESZ A
for tax purposes Higw & 6 584
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERARBAHIEESED
recognised Mg & 319 294
Income tax expense for the year FRABHEAX = -
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil), nor has any dividend been proposed since the

end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

12. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN, 12.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
EMOLUMENTS)

BEIRK(BEXE EERES
<)

2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Salaries, wages and other benefits in kind e LEREMEDER

Retirement benefits scheme contributions IR FIFT SR

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Company
and those subsidiaries, which operated in the PRC, are required
to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan for all its
employees. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees.
Under the state-sponsored retirement plan, the Group has no
further obligations for the actual pension payments or post-
retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions, a total
contribution of approximately RMB146,000 (2023: RMB72,000)
was made by the Group in respect of this scheme.

948 809
146 72
1,094 881

Bl (FBERIM)

LRAPERIENREBETE  ARRRE
PREBNZENBEARARNMEREBE
o B SGR AR AR A AT BB o BISR KR A
SFEAERMERKEEXNEIRIKE -
RIBER SRR BHAGE - NEERTFH
RO - BAEE H M EBIRAR SRR IR
BREFELE— PR - NEBBREZTE
TER M KB R B AR 146,0007T (=
S-=4F: ARKET72,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_MF+-_A=+—AHLFE

13. CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 13. XF  -ESREEMHS
EMOLUMENTS

Chairman, directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments IE -EEREEWHS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2023: ENSENER(ZE=F  £R)EF
seven) chairman, directors and three (2023: three) supervisors were FEEN=HR(ZE=F: —H)ESHOH
as follows: 0T
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZE-_mFE+—_A=+—HLFE
Salaries,
allowances, Retirement
bonus and benefits
benefits scheme
Name Fees inkind  contributions Total
-
2R ®e BINER
®E e ENER SRR @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR ARBTR

Executive directors HTES
Mr. He Keng (Chairman) mB%L (LE) - 65 16 81
Ms. Wu Shanhong RMA 2L

(Resigned on 5 March 2025) (R2025F 3 A5 HET) - 66 16 82
Mr. Chen Weigjang BRERLE - 60 - 60
Ms. Zou Jing FHuT - 127 16 143

Independent non-executive directors BIUFHTES

Mr. Zhou Weibo BRREE 33 - - 33
Ms. Sheng Ting 23y 33 - - 33
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung, Eddie SBal 46 - - 46
Supervisors Ex

Mr. Guo Fanggjang BraLE - = = =
Mr. Zhang Shenggen REBLE = - - -
Mr. Chen Yuankang BITREE = - - -
Total @it 112 318 48 478
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

13. CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 13. XF  ESERESHE - &

EMOLUMENTS — Continued

Chairman, directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments —

IR EEREEME - &

Continued
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_=-F+_A=+—HIFE
Salaries,
allowances, Retirement
bonus and benefits
benefits scheme
Name Fees in kind contributions Total
e
20 B RIKET
4 fiikn REMEN FEIMT @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFL AREBFL AREBFL AREFL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. He Keng (Chairman) B%E(EE) - 70 12 82
Ms. Wu Shanhong KWt - 72 12 84
Mr. Chen Weigiang BRIEM LA - 65 - 65
Ms. Zou Jing Pt - 76 12 88
Independent non-executive directors  BUYFHITES
Mr. Zhou Weibo AR R EE 36 - - 36
Ms. Sheng Ting BELT 36 - - 36
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung, Eddie Elfly3 e 46 - - 46
Supervisors Ex
Mr. Guo Fanggjang BHREE - - - -
Mr. Zhang Shenggen RERTAE - - - -
Mr. Chen Yuankang BRITREAE - - - -
Total @st 118 283 36 437
Note: BEE -
No directors and supervisors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the two HE—ZT-NMER-—"S-—=+-A=+—8IIW

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

1I$f1?ﬁi§$&§£$ﬁﬁl%jﬂEﬁﬁl;ﬁ&ﬁ@)ﬁi
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

13. CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 13.

EMOLUMENTS — Continued

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the Group, three
(2023: two) were directors of the Company whose emolument
are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the

EE e

N SEFMALS
T=FMB)RARRES  HMEH
REXHBEEERT - Hp—R(ZF ==

IR EEREEME - &

=& (=Z

remaining two (2023: three) highest paid individuals were as F:=F)maiMATHMS0T
follows:

2024 2023
—E_E —E-_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Salaries and other benefits in kind HeRHEMEYET 233 212
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRBFFTEIH 3R 33 22
266 234

Their emoluments were within the following band:

WEZMEBINFLATEENA :

Number of employees

EEAHE
2024 2023
—EWE —E-=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,0007% 7T
(equivalent to approximately RMB943,000  (#H% R4 AR # 943,000 7T
(2023: RMB904,000)) —E - =F
A #904,0007T)) 2 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

13.

14.

CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
EMOLUMENTS — Continued

Senior management’s emoluments — Continued

No emolument have been paid by the Group to the directors and
supervisors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the two years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

No bonuses paid or receivable which are discretionary or based
on the Company’s, the Group’s or any member of the Group’s
performance for the financial years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB1,298,000 (2023: RMB3,514,000) divided by the weighted
average number of 500,000,000 shares (2023: 500,000,000
shares) in issue during the year.

No diluted loss per share have been presented for the two years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as there was no diluted
potential ordinary share in issue for both years.

13.

14.

IR EERESEMHE - &

SREEEME — &
HE-_Z_NFER-_ZTZ-_=F+=A
“t+—HIEMEFE  ALEETEEDRA
REEREES AN ESHMA T ST
SEAWSIIMATKIMAREBRRE 2 885
SIERBERME -

BE_Z_NFR-_FT_=ZF+-A4
=t BLEMBEE  SEENRENE
BIRRAKENARRR]  REEHAEEE
TEAARERIFAIEL °

BRER

BREAXRBBIIRERARHE ARIGF
NEBHARE 1,298,000 C(— - =4 :
AR¥E3,514,0007T) B AFE R E BTG
/9 004 7 #5 % £1500,000,000 4 (=T ==
£ : 500,000,000 f%) 51 & -

HRBE-Z-_NFER=_Z=_=F1+=A
—t+—BULMEAFETERTAIEALGESE
SEUER L EAL - A4 25 52 R EF
EREIREEEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. BMERRE
Plant and Motor
equipment vehicles Total
B E R RE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETTT ARETT

COST R
At 1 January 2023, R-ZB-_=%—HF—H8"
31 December 2023 and —E=-=
31 December 2024 +=-A=+—-8RK
—E-ME
+=—B=+-—AH 179 205 384
ACCUMULATED AItIE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=F—H—H 31 152 183
Provided for the year FRBE 18 39 57
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZB-=F+=H
1 January 2024 =t+—-AkK
—E-_MNE—HF—H 49 191 240
Provided for the year F RS 18 5 23
At 31 December 2024 RIE-WME
+=H=+-8H 67 196 263
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2024 R-E-NEF
+=ZA=+-—H 112 9 121
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=4F
+=ZA=+—H 130 14 144
Note: fira -

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives less their residual values at the following rates per annum:

Plant and equipment 10%
Motor vehicles 20%
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

16. INVENTORIES 16. F&

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET ARBFIT
Finished goods RIEK SR 25 29

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. EWEZERX
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Trade receivables — contracts with customers JEWE BEEF — B A4 12 373
Less: Allowance for credit loss W EEEERE - ()
Trade receivables, net of impairment FEWE ZRE - B RE 12 371

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days to its trade

customers.

The aged analysis of trade receivables presented based on the

invoice date, net of impairment losses recognised was as follows:

AEBGETEESEPHTHEERNFO

AT AREEA 25 EKRE SRX(EH
B MR AORERER) MERER DT -

2024 2023

—ENE —Eo=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREF T

0-90 days 0Z90H 12 299
91-180 days 91 & 180H - 72
181-365 days 181 %365 H - -
12 371
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BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

17.

18.

88

TRADE RECEIVABLES — Continued 17. EWE SRR — &
The aging analysis of trade receivables which were past due but EaHRERBENEYESERNRERD
not impaired are as follows: Mran T
2024 2023
—E_E —E-_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBTT
91 to 180 days past due #H 91 =180 H - 72
- 72
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in JEUE 5 BR FOR B R E B B KT EE32(0) °
Note 32(b).
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 18. MBITHEKRKRERS

Bank balances earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rates.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group performed impairment
assessment on bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly,
no allowance for credit losses is provided.

At 31 December 2024, the bank balance and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB11,999,000 (2023: RMB12,768,000). RMB is in not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through authorised banks to conduct foreign exchange business.
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ZE ZUFEFIR

RTEBIRIES B RSN E T B
EHREFLE -

HE-_Z-_NFR-_TE-_=ZF+=A
=T+ —HUEFE AEEHRITERET
BWEFETREZHRITHEOBERIL T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

19. TRADE PAYABLES

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days.

The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

19. BNEZKRX

BEERMTHEERRORB -

RBERRRERA 2D RN E SRR

MR DT IIREAT

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
0-90 days 0ZF90H 3,695 4,095
20. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20. HttENRAKETEH
2024 2023
—T-mE —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTF T
Other payables E b ETER IR 65 54
Accruals fEFTE A 610 589
Provision for claim (Note 28) RIER M (5 28) 86 86
761 729
21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21. EHNEE

2024 2023
—E-OF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT

Sales of controller systems for electronic SHE BT RAEHIE SRR
products and sales of mechanical products RGHE H M E 19 410

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration
received from customers for sales of controller systems for
electronic products and sales of mechanical products, for which
revenue is recognised at point in time. This will be recognised as
revenue when control of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been delivered to the wholesaler’s specific location.

BHBETREFEETRENER SRR
BN HE N RERBE P W B HE

>t

KR E B AT

ARE - EU S IR M2 rER
EmriEtEsES (AERER
il ) BRFRERR

o Wi
S =R B
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21.

22,

23.

90

ZENFE+ZA=+—HILFE
CONTRACT LIABILITIES — Continued 21. EHNEEBE - &
Movements in contract liabilities BHREERE
2024 2023
—EC-E T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Balance at 1 January w—A—Br&EH 410 1,511
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HEANRRB NS N B ERD
recognising revenue during the year (410) (1,511)
Increase due to cash received, BUCREmEM - T
excluding amounts recognised FAERBN RS
as revenue during the year 19 410
Balance at 31 December RTZA=+—H04&% 19 410
AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER OF 22, ENRAERAT—BRRENRIE
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Amount due to a shareholder of ultimate FEN BRI A R — B IR R K
holding company
Mr. Tang Jingfeng ZmErAE 7,740 7,790
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed ZHEREER R REETEER -
term of repayment.
AMOUNT DUE TO A MAJOR SHAREHOLDER 23. E—FBEXERRNE
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBF T
Due to a major shareholder B —R2EEREFIA
Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent AL iR & %E&E%&/\
Robot Co., Ltd. BRHBERA 46,000 46,000
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed B REER - R RERETEENR -

term of repayment.
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24. BANK BORROWINGS

24, SRITER

Interest rate

per annum 2024 2023
R E —E-mE —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREEF T
Current liabilities REBEE
Bank borrowings, unsecured  ER1TEFK + MK 2024: Fixed
(Note) (MF3%) rate borrowings
5.94%-6.86%
(2023: 8 4%—9 7%)
ZE PO ¢
):F_/Lu\1EI /T>)\
5.94%—-6.86%
—E o=
8.4%-9.7%) 2,952 2,000
2,952 2,000
2024 2023
—E-NEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBETIT
The carrying amounts of the above bank JEEE BRI TERAREE ¢
borrowings are repayable:
Within one year or on demand —F A EEK 2,952 2,000
Note: s -
These bank borrowings represented the principal amounts of three unsecured ZERMTERBEE_Z-_NF+ A=+ —BR{RT

borrowings (2023: two) obtained from a

bank as at 31 December 2024. The bank

loans will be repayable in December 2026. However, as there is a repayment clause

in the bank loan facilities letter that grant

the bank the right to demand repayment of

the loans at any time, the bank loans therefore have been reclassified under current

liabilities.

Jing.

The bank borrowings were guaranteed by a director of the Company, Ms. Zou

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LII\/IITED
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25. DIVIDENDS PAYABLES 25. BfIRE
The dividends payables represent the final dividend declared for ERNREERZZEENFHRRNERT RS
Domestic Shares in 2004 which amounted to RMB4,440,000. REARR B R AR 4,440,000 7T ©
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. |RA
Number of
shares Amount
ROEE =8
’000 RMB’000
T AREFT
Authorised, issued and fully paid: EE C BETREUR -
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R-—ZE-_=%—H—H"
and 31 December 2024 —E=F+ZA=+-HEK
—EMFE+ZA=1+-—H 500,000 50,000
Domestic shares (Note a) WER (HiEa) 370,000 37,000
H shares (Note b) H % (Ff5Eb) 130,000 13,000
500,000 50,000

Notes: MEE -

(a) Pursuant to an approval dated 4 June 2003 issued by the China Securities @) BT EAEEEREEeN —SE=FXA
Regulatory Commission, all the shares of the Company, which were issued 7O A B RIS Eg;sﬂ&”@,%g@pﬁﬁ$gajﬁg
and fully paid, being 37,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of RMB1.00 % - B E R EE A A R ¥ 1.00 7T 837,000,000
each, were sub-divided into 370,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of BEmBwIrAASREEAEARKI0TH
RMBO0.10 each. 370,000,000 f& & 3 A -

(b) On 14 November 2003, the Company commenced the trading of the newly (b) R-TBT=F+—F+MmE  AXF LA
issued 130,000,000 H shares of RMB0.10 each on the GEM of the Stock X FTGEM B B %7 % 77 #9 130,000,000 A5 & % A
Exchange, including 117,000,000 H shares to institutional investors by way of EM¥010THHE » BIEARE 5 E T K
placement and 13,000,000 H shares for subscription by members of the public 158 % # 117,000,000 B H A% + LA R IR 18 A B
in Hong Kong under the Public Offer at the Offer Price of HKD0.50 (equivalent BERBEBOSOB THE B AT ATREN
to approximately RMB69,550,000). Following the issue, the share capital and 13,000,000 % H % (48 7 49 A R 69,550,000
capital reserve of the Company increased by approximately HKD12,150,000 TE) o BRI EEITIE - A TR R B EE D
(equivalent to approximately RMB13,000,000) and HKD52,850,000 (equivalent Bl 8 £ 4712,150,0003% 7T (41 & R 4 A R #&
to approximately RMB56,550,000) respectively. 13,000,0007T ) 2 52,850,000 7T (#8 & 1 49 A

R % 56,550,0007T) °
27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27. EEBIE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax RIMEHKR  AEBAEAHTABERSBEY

losses of approximately RMB7,787,000 (2023: RMB10,427,000) ARBE7 7870000 (ZE==F : AR

available to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has 10,427,0007T) * Al AR SE AR ZE T ©

been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. A TR BISE T 2B By S 5] T8 R M - Bk 3

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the EREMELERBEE - BETEABRE

unused tax losses incurred by the Company and PRC subsidiaries EREE AR EE AT EEN

can be carried forward for a period of five years. REABIEEE AR FERRNEG
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28.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
LBTC 3663/2016 (the “Labour Tribunal Proceedings”)

On or around 7 November 2016, a former employee (the “Former
Employee”) was terminated by the Company on or around 5
October 2016 (the “Termination Date”), commenced proceedings in
the Labour Tribunal against the Company and its former subsidiary,
Hong Kong Wan Li Enterprise Co. Ltd. (“HK Wan Li") (together,
the “Respondents”), claiming a total amount of approximately of
HK$2,600,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB2,340,000) on a
number of grounds, including (i) dismissal by reason of redundancy,
(ii) failure to grant statutory holidays, (iii) failure to grant annual leave,
(iv) failure to pay long service payment, (v) failure to make payment
for overtime work, (vi) failure to pay end of year payment, (vii) failure
to pay bonus. Pursuant to the Order of the Labour Tribunal dated
5 May 2017, the Labour Tribunal Proceedings are presently stayed
indefinitely with costs reserved.

As of the date hereof, the Company is not aware of any further
development to the Labour Tribunal Proceedings since 5 May
2017.

Taking into account the possible outcome and their obligations
for the above case, the Group has made a provision for claim
of approximately RMB86,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$96,000) for the year ended 31 December 2016 and no further
provision was made thereafter.

Since the above cases are presently stayed indefinitely, the
Directors would continue to exercise their due care in monitoring
the progress of the cases and would assess the adequacy
of provision of claim and the financial impact to the Group as
and when appropriate. The Directors believe that the amount
of approximately RMB86,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB86,000) represents the best estimate of the Group’s liability
having taken legal advice.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities at 31 December 2024.

28.

HARERE
LBTC 3663/2016 ([ &5 & HE & F74 1)

RZE—RNF+—AtH=%AFIE —FBAR
REIRZZTE—A"F+ARB(HEBR]D
R EBREMNREE(RIREREDMSBER
HEUARAREANNBARNESERD
XERAR(BESER)) (B HEDE
AR - REMESFH2,600,000%57T
(FE R AR 2,340,0007T) B EEE
FENEE B BRE: (VEEBRBTHE i)
THER (v REZNRBRES ()8
BXAAME © vi)pRE I HERISE ¢ (vi)
BELZAEL - RELERREBH A=
T—+FRARANES  BEERRER
TEEREE(E - WIRBAA o

BEABREAD ARALTOELE
ARFAE-E—tFEATARAEN
—HEE -

B
#

KERFIMEHENAEERERET HE
—T—RF+_A=+—BLFE K&
E 2 EH=E R EH AR 86,0007T (18
B #996,0008 L) + B IIL 18 i — P
1 o

MR EMRFERAL (S SSGEES
BERZERHFZER  THERNEERE
T ERRECREERTRAREAER Y
BT E -BERAR T -_NF+=A
—t+—B#HARES,000T(—T - =4F:
AR #86,0007T) 2 & 88 AN EBEEME
BERBEENRES GG

B EXFIEES  AEBR _T_MF
ToA=TBHEERRAALE -
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T A

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29.

94

CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising

METDHEENEEZLH
T%?%Zliﬁlﬁf\iﬂﬂmﬂééﬁ?iﬂ’]%{i

Fade)

RERnEBRME

from financing activities during the year: 2B
Amount
duetoa Total
shareholder Amount liabilities
of ultimate due to Loan from from
Bank holding a major a major financing
borrowings company shareholder  shareholder activities
EA&RE E—% RE-4
BRAR FERE FTERE MEED
BITER —BRRAE ME ZEX B4R
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETIL AREFT ARETTT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%F—H—H - 7,740 6,000 37,720 51,460
Change from financing cash BB &R E&E -
flows:
Proceeds from bank BITEFATE A
borrowings 2,000 - - - 2,000
Advance from a shareholder of F&IFRR A7) — MR E
ultimate holding company - 50 - - 50
2,000 50 - - 2,050
Other change: Hip
Reclassification of loanfroma KRB —BEERRZEH
major shareholder AR - - 40,000 (37,720) 2,280
At 31 December 2023 and R-E-=F
1 January 2024 + H =t—BR
T mE—- ﬂ H 2,000 7,790 46,000 - 55,790
Change from financing cash ~ EER & REE
flows:
Interest paid ERFIE (91) - - - 91)
Proceeds from bank RITEFAFHE
borrowings 3,000 - - - 3,000
Repayment of bank borrowings {83 $R1T{& (2,048) - - - (2,048)
Repayment to a shareholder of FAEIER A A —LIREER
ultimate holding company - (50) - - (50)
861 (50) - - 811
Other change: H#s :
Interest expense FIEHY 91 - - - 91
At 31 December 2024 WZZZWFE+=R
=t+—H 2,952 7,740 46,000 - 56,692
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

31.

(@)

The balances with related parties at the end of reporting
period are disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements.

The key management personnel of the Group comprises all
Directors and Supervisors, details of their emoluments are
disclosed in Note 13. The remuneration of the Directors is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market.

The bank borrowings of RMB2,952,000 (2023: RMB2,000,000)
as at 31 December 2024 was secured by a personal
guarantee by Ms. Zou Jing (see Note 24).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

N

30. BABEXRS

31.

@ REREHREBBALTNERTER
AT mREMEMIBOP -

b) AEEFEZEEEABREMBESK
BEE HEMeFBERERK T8
BEEFmTMEEemBEARER
ISR MET °

© RZE-_NF+-A=+—HNRTT
ERARK205200T (T ==
£ AR #2000,0007T) J5 A B 5%
ZEFTtE B A REEIR (BT
24) °

EXEBEE

AEEEBEEEANABRAEEETH

ERAFECEER  RABBEBRE(LER

Kt zs 2 f ) 19 A B8

@l -

REHRNERNBELFWT ¢

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREEF T

Debts (Note (i) &% (FaE () 56,692 55,790
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS (11,999) (12,768)
Net debt SRER 44,693 43,022
Capital deficiency (Note (i) BB AL (FHFE i) (53,445) (52,147)
Net debt to equity ratio FEBEERILE N/A R E H N/A 7~
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31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT — Continued 31.
Notes:
[0] Debts comprise bank borrowings and amount due to a shareholder of ultimate

holding company/a major shareholder.

(i) Capital deficiency includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of the
Company.

* As the Group had a net deficiency in capital at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group’s gearing ratio as at that date were not applicable. The Directors
have given careful consideration on the measures currently undertaken in
respect of the Group’s liquidity position. The Directors believe that the Group
will be able to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due based on the
Group’s working capital sufficiency plans.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32.

(@) Categories of financial instruments

EXEREE — &
GEE

() BERERRITERRENREERAT -5
MR, —EBEERRAKE -

(i AABAMBEARDEEABENREER
R febffs o

* HRAEER T _NFR=_T=_=F+=
A=+ —B2ERERNFEAKFE  HRE
ERZAZEANBBLERETEM -E2E
FEEEBAIAEEZ REBE 2R
2 ERMAE  BEAEEZLEES Y
RS B2 EETHERSEMKE
£ o

AEBI AZBEM KB INEENE AL
BEROHL REBEE_T_OFR-F
T=F+ZA=+—HIEFE BE-H
HREREEANRFIOEED -

ERMITR

(@) =RTEEH

2024 2023
—EmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost IR A BR 2 R E E 12,011 13,139
Financial liabilities ol y=L
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REER TR B E 65,502 64,968
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade payables, other
payables and accruals, dividends payables, bank borrowings
and amount due to a shareholder of ultimate holding
company/a major shareholder are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of the Group is RMB since
the Group operates in the PRC with all of the
transactions and financial assets at amortised cost are
denominated and settled in RMB. As a result, there is
no exposure to foreign currency risk.

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Bank
borrowings bearing fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk but the exposure to the Group
is considered immaterial. The exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk for the Group’s bank balances are
considered immaterial as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented
for interest rate risk.

eWMITE — &

(b)

ISR EENEZERBEE
AREENTELHM T EABERER
BEHRR RITEHLED B
NESER: ﬁﬁﬂﬂ’iﬁﬁﬁ XK FE
ATEEE BARE - BITERMN
K JE A B AR % “"T ZRERS
—RTERFFENFBRSIER
W%¢&§ ERZESRITANE

BB IET 5 E R (&% & & FE R
22) EERBLRBESRRE - &
78 10 7] P& AK 52 55 B B B9 BUR 3051 A
TXY - EEEEERWERZERR
AHE - AR ERE M EEEE B
i

45 m B
() EEER

A E AR B G ST
AEEOY RS BARE -
P2 5 R R SR A 5 B
SRAEMUARBIHERE
o Flt - BUEREHINERR -

(i) FIEEE

F=EBiEERTANQFE
gRenE TSN EEEM
IR BN R o R E E R X
FFEZIBRITERESASEAR
NEEMERER - EAEEER
fe 2 BRI TEK o 122024 F
N 2023 12 A31 B A& B R
TEBIATNIRES REF X
EITEKX - Ft - WES
1)) 2 | B BURRE 0 AT ©
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

T A

98

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, bank balances and
other receivables and deposits. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets.

(i)

(i)

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 0%
(2023: 40%) and 0% (2023: 100%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group has concentration of credit risk by
geographical location as the entire balance of its trade
receivable as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were in
the PRC.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade receivables individually or based on provision
matrix. Except for items that are subject to individual
evaluation, which are assessed for impairment
individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
recurring customers and current past due exposure.
No impairment loss was recognised during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Bank balances

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are
international banks and state-owned banks with good
reputation.

Other receivables and deposits

The credit risk on other receivables and deposits are
also limited because of the natures of these balances,
credit quality of the counterparties and the historical
settlement record.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

32. ¢RTH — &

b) BHEEREENEEZERBE —

=B R K B EFE — &

TR AEENEREEEERR
(REITRHMERBENM)

assessment:
Internal Gross
credit 12-month or carrying
2024 —EC-ME Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
12BA& S
M RBEETR RHEEER REARE
RMB’000
ARETT
Financial assets at amortised costs 3% 85 B A< 51| BR #9
tREE
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERE 18 N/A" 12-month ECL 11,999
~EA 1284
BHGEEESR
Deposits and other receivables e REMELIETR  NA (noteii) 12-month ECL 1
T (Bt=Eii) 1248 R
RAGEESE
Trade receivables EWE HER 17 (notei)  Lifetime ECL 12
(B aEi) wy
BAGEESR
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued 32. ¢MIHE—E&
(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies b) HMERBEENEEZERBEK —
— Continued &
Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued =ERBEREEFG — &
Internal Gross
credit 12-month or carrying
2023 “E-=F Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
12 A s
k=3 NBEEFL  EHEESSE AR
RMB’000
ARBTT
Financial assets at amortised costs 1z 88 B A 5l iR Y
SREE
Bank balances and cash BITEBRRE 18 N/A 12-month ECL 12,768
TEA 1218 A
EHEEER
Deposits and other receivables meREMEIWED  NA (note i)  12-month ECL 4
TEH (FfF=Ei) 12184
BHEEEE
Trade receivables FEWE ZBRH 17 (notei)  Lifetime ECL 373
(GED) "y
EBHEEER
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
Notes:

(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items
by past due status, historical loss rates and adjust for forward-looking
information.

(ii) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, these balances are either not past due or doesn’t have fixed
repayment.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers because these customers have common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired).

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

32. $EMTA—-&

(b)

BHEAREENERERBER —

= EmBR R B EF G — &
g -

0 HREWE SRR ARECERAES
MRS ENFIRMBLERR T A
HEERBTESBERE BBRTE
HRHERERN EEFEREB N A%
BZm RN - ELEEE RBATE T
ARMEHMREEEZSHAMWELRE
EFE -

(i BRABEERBRERMS - AEERA
BEERRTE B EAERAREERR
EEEREEM KRB _MOFER-F
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

Analysis of trade receivable by categories based on method
of provision for credit loss allowance

EWMTHE - &

b) BHEEREENEEZERBE —
&

=B R K B EFE — &

&1z BERIZ 18 )% 7 FRIE
W B BRI Z 2T

RMB'000
ARETT
2024 2023
b Sl 12 TR
Book value Credit loss allowance Book value Credit loss allowance
REE FEFBRE RESE REBRAR
Proportion Proportion  Carrying Proportion Proportion  Carrying
Category bpl| Amount (%)  Amount (%)  amount  Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
8 Hhl(%) 28 Lhl%) REE 8 Lhlo) 28 bl REE
Provision on RIAAEE

portfolio basis HE 12 100 - 0 12 378 100 @ 05 371
Total g5 12 100 = 0 12 373 100 Q) 05 371
Analysis of trade receivables for which credit loss allowance REEEEELEEEERENER

is provided on portfolio basis: B ORI

2024 2023
—E-NE ZEZ=F

Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate  receivables loss rate receivables
Gross carrying amount SREAE FHEREE BREZRR THERX BEREFER
Current (not past due) BRI (K@) 0% 12 0% 300
1-90 days past due #HI1E 0K 0% 0 0% -
91-180 days past due BHI91 £ 180K 0% 0 2% 73
Over 180 days past due #HIERIB 180K 0% 0 100% -
12 373

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

32. ¢RTH — &

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach.

b) BHEEREENEEREE —
&

= EmBR R B EF G — &

TRIREREGEEEKE S
RERFIRIERFBE -

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
KETEE
EEEBR
(HBREERE)
RMB’000
ARBFT

1 January 2023 and at
31 December 2023

Reversal of impairment losses

As at 31 December 2024

R-E-=%-A—-HK

—EC-=H4+-A=1t—H 2

BERERBIE

(2

R-E-WNE+=-A=+—H -

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are

ERE ZERERREES I ERH

mainly due to: JiN
2024 2023
—E-E —E-—F
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
Credit-impaired  Credit-impaired
-1 By
BHEEBE HHEEEE
B Oma) 8 Crd)
HREERE TRESHE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT

Reversal of impairment loss on trade ‘e W E 5B EEE

receivables 2 -
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BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs
earlier.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as at 31 December
2024 as its financial assets due within one year was less than
its financial liabilities due within one year. The Group had net
current liabilities of approximately RMB53,566,000 as at 31
December 2024. The liquidity of the Group depends upon
the positive cash flows expected to be generated from the
Group’s future operations and successfully obtain new working
capital in order to meet the Group’s future working capital and
financial requirements. Details of which are set out in Note 1.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment dates. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve
at the end of the reporting period.

104 ANNUAL REPORT 2024
ZE ZUFEFIR

eWMITE — &

(b)

BHEAREENBERERBER —
&

WEEHBREBARNEENRE
jfﬁﬁiﬁ[f’”ﬁz@%lﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁ(ﬂﬂ”ﬂiﬁn

ERBRRACETHRERTHEE
Mﬂzf’i%ﬁé KE A A E (AR 3%
EERE)) AEESHERKES

MmEEZEE

HRASER—FARNBHNESREE
PR—FEREEANEREE  BXR
EER-_Z-_NF+=-A=+—H@E
ﬁuumb@]éiﬂM n —7—E¢+—
A=+—8 XEEMRDHEEFE
# 5 AR 53,566,000 ° A% E
ZMEESBURM AL B R R EKTE
HEEEERESRE - URKINES
BEASMEARENRREELES
NG HER - BRAFIEHN T -

TRAMRBHENERAY - K&
EDETES B ENRT A O5IHR
B o MR TDBIBAREE AT RLAXTHY
REAHRREBBENRBRRES
REBER - ZRBEMNELASHRS
ME ° ﬁﬂ o //|L§7Eﬁ/¥@ﬂz‘; ’ E'Jﬂi
BRIR BGE TOAR IR IR S AR 2 M R dh AR
FESL -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WSk I ot

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued 32. ¢MIHE—E&
(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies b) HMERBEENEEZEREEK —
— Continued &
Liquidity tables HEBEEF*
Within 1 year Total
or repayable Over 1 year Over2years  undiscounted Carrying
ondemand within2 years  within 5 years cash flow amounts
—ERE KR
REXEE -FEMER  WEREER  RERELE RER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mE+=A=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilties: FTEeRBRE:
Trade payables [ENBSED 3,695 - - 3,695 3,695
Other payables and accruals Ei AR RIETER 675 - - 675 675
Amount due to a sharsholder of J‘&‘Hﬁiw Rl

ulimate holding company —BRREFE 7,740 - - 7,740 7,740
Amount due to major shareholder B —Z T B R A 46,000 - - 46,000 46,000
Dividends payables RS 4,440 - - 4,440 4,440
Bank borrowings RITER 3,146 = - 3,146 2,952

65,696 - - 65,696 65,502

At 31 December 2023 “BE-=E+ZA=+-H
Non-derivative financial liabilties: HrEeRaR
Trade payables ERESER 4,095 - - 4,095 4,095
Other payables and accruals Hi AR R BR T 643 - - 643 643
Amount due to a shareholder of F AHREERAT

uttimate holding company —ZREFTE 7,790 - - 7,790 7,790
Amount due to major sharsholder ER—ZTEREFE 46,000 - - 46,000 46,000
Dividends payables ERRE 4,440 - - 4,440 4,440
Bank borrowings fﬁ?ﬂjaith 2,362 - - 2,362 2,000

65,330 - - 65,330 64,968
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-F-MEF-AZT—HLFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

32. 2ETH — &

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (b) HMBEEREENEZEREE —
— Continued &
Liquidity tables — Continued TEBELXR — &
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are MAERERERERNRITEREE
included in the “within 1 year or repayable on demand” time ELEAFBONF [ —FARNIZREK
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December EBE| RN - RZZT=WF+=A
2024, the aggregate amounts of these bank borrowings =+—H  ZERITEREEHORA
amounted to approximately RMB2,952,000 (2023: [R#2,952,0007t( Z T =4 : A
RMB2,000,000). E#2,000,00070) °
For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, management BEBERBESREK  BEEEREZ
reviewed the expected cash flow information of the Group’s LHEAHRTERBE  RUAE
bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based BB iR E RE R G RITE RS
on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the agreements TEER S REERDT
as below:
Within 1 year Total
or repayable Over1year  undiscounted Carrying
ondemand  within 2 years cash flow amount
—FRE RERMN
REREE —EEMER RERBEE BEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETTT
As at 31 December R-ZEB-mF
2024 +=ZA=t+-H
Bank borrowings with a M EZREREERRE
repayment on demand clause  $R{T7{& 3k 3,146 - 3,146 2,952
As at 31 December R-E-=%
2023 +=RA=+-AH
Bank borrowings with a A REREEERN
repayment on demand clause  $R4T{E 2,362 - 2,362 2,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

° the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices and ask prices, respectively; and

° the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices
from observable current market transactions and dealer
quotes for similar instruments.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values
due to their short-term maturities.

$HTHEH - &
(c) €EMITEQAFEE

TREENEBBEZAFEEEN

T

BB REGR R AR AL 7E B
MBMEEECEREERS
BEE - DR ERRTS
' ﬁf‘&aéfﬁﬁi’&?@ ;
P53

Hie@EEREREE(T
BREITETR)ZAFETLR
BEBRRATE ERILIZAIRR
ﬁ%’ﬁiﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ‘f%ﬂﬂfﬁﬂﬁm
R ZBERMEUTARS
?éﬁi&f%‘-‘fﬁéi °

RAEMBHRRTIRBEHEKNAA

FzemEErERBGEZREE  F2
HiHBREmEE A FERS -
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

108

33. ARQTFMMBAARREK

COMPANY
2024 2023
—EWE =%
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥ET T ARETT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARMEE (@) 3,075 3,075
Current assets REEE
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRE 7,033 7,107
Current liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals Hith FEHEE )SZJE EA 696 675
Amounts due to subsidiaries FER B A 6,718 7,128
Amount due to a shareholder of }*HE—”T ”’\ 7 %
ultimate holding company e 7,740 7,790
Amount due to a major shareholder Bt —% Ezz [ =] 46,000 46,000
Dividends payable FERHRZ B 4,440 4,440
(65,594) (66,033)
Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (58,561) (58,926)
Net liabilities FEE (55,486) (55,851)
Capital and reserves B
Share capital P& A 50,000 50,000
Reserves (G (b) (105,486) (105,851)
Capital deficiency ERE 4 (55,486) (65,851)

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March 2025

and are signed on its behalf by:

He Keng
A $82
Director

EE
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THFE=ZAZ-TAMERBRETIZ - WH

THEERERERE

Yao Yongtao
E=
Director
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-ME+_A=+—HIEFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. KR FHNHMBERRK — &
COMPANY — Continued

Notes: sk -
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (@ R B R BRIEE
2024 2023
—E_ME —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETFT
Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE « R 3,275 3,275
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEHRE (200) (200)
3,075 3,075
(o) Reserves (b) &
Statutory
Capital Other surplus Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BEARE Hivf#E ATRHAES B4y M@zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2023 RZZE-=F—F—H 40,449 276,208 23,701 (442,779) (102,421)

Loss and total comprehensive loss  FREE N 2 EEELEE

for the year - - - (3,430) (3,430)
At 31 December 2023 and AN—E-ZE+-F=1—H

1 January 2024 ER-E-mE—f—H 40,449 276,208 23,701 (446,209) (105,851)
Profit and total comprehensive income 4F A3 F | 2 E I A 4858

for the year - - - 365 365
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+-A=+-8 40,449 276,208 23,701 (445,844 (105,486)
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BHE-_Z-_M&+-_A=-+—BLtFE

34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 34. FEHBEAT
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 R -_NER T _=F+_A=+—
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: B AAREEMBARFREHOT :
Place of
incorporation/
registration Date of Attributable equity
Class of and operation/  incorporation/ Paid up/ interest held
Name of subsidiary shares held establishment establishment issued share capital by the Company Principal activities
AL/
HMRgE/ B8R/
WEARER Fris Rt 2Rl RbE AMAYL/ R A BRITRA ROFELRE TEER
2024 2028
SEomE ST
Hangzhou Jingin Trading Contributed capital ~ PRC* 5May 2017 RMB3,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of controller systems for
Co. Ltd* EARA e —Z—+£RAAA ARH3,000,0007 electronic equipment and
N BERAR" electronic components and
subassembly for electronic
appliances and manufacturing
and sales of CNC machine tools
optical and mechanical products
HESTREREFrlaniEnE
FRRBERHEGIERR
TEER
Hangzhou Qinyu Electronic Contriouted capital ~ PRC* 7May 2017 RMB275,000 100% 100%  Inactive
Technology Co. Ltd.* ERRA e “F—+tFRAtA AR 275,000 BRH
T EEFREBRAR"
# Up to the reporting date, the Company only paid RMB3,275,000 for the # HEEREAH AR EHEMBREERARE
registered share capital. 3,275,000 7T °
* These entities are established in the form of limited liability company. * ZEBERARBREERT -
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as at RERSKFERNIMER BERBATE
the end of the year or at any time during the year. AR EENERES -
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RESULTS £
For the year ended 31 December
BET-A=+-ALEE
2024 20283 2022 2021 2020
—EoNE —T-=F —FT--F T —T-FTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AREFTT ARETT AREBTT ARETR
Revenue Yz 22,279 21,783 32,213 36,540 35,858
Cost of sales HERA (20,510) (20,158) (27,402) (34,205) (35,377)
Gross profit EF 1,769 1,625 4,811 2,335 481
Other income HAabUg A 4 18 23 3 22
Impairment losses under expected ~ FEHZEEIEHEE T
credit loss model, net of reversal REEE - kR ED - - - 3 6
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (319) (306) (369) 172) (119)
Other gain and losses Hip e g 2 - - - (123)
Administrative expenses THER (2,663) (2,571) (2,523) (2,319) (4,511)
Finance costs REMAR 1) (2,280) (6,451) (5,348) (4,270)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 134250 fit B 22 7] U - - - 1,509 .
Loss before taxation FRERIEE (1,298) (3,514) (4,509) (3,989 (8,514)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTER (M%), /B% - - (123) (49) 18
Loss for the year FAER (1,298) (3,514) (4,632) (4,034) (8,496)
Attributable to: &1t -
Owners of the Company ARREEA (1,298) (3,514) (4,632) (4,034) (8,496)
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

&E

- BERER

At 31 December

W+=BA=+-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECmE —T-=F Z—E--F —T-—% —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETRT
Total assets EEET 12,162 13,317 17,829 18,596 15,603
Total liabilities BELT (65,607) (65,464) (66,462) (62,597) (65,570)
(53,445) (52,147) (48,633) (44,001) (39,967)
Equity attributable to owners AREEEBA
of the Company e RS (53,445) (52,147) (48,633) (44,001) (39,967)
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